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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”), | am pleased to present the annual results of Rare Earth
Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the "REMT
Group” or the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year”) for all stakeholders to review.

“Magnesium prices continue to decline, reaching a three-year low”

In 2023, the global economy experienced a slowdown, and the overall economic environment was unfavorable.
The price of magnesium ingots in China showed a downward trend. Although there were temporary rebounds in
mid-April, mid-May, and late September, the decline continued from mid-October. The average monthly price
of magnesium in 2023 decreased from 21,811 yuan/ton in January to 20,433 yuan/ton in December. The average
price for the whole year was 21,953 yuan/ton, a decrease of 27.5% compared to the same period last year,
reaching the lowest point in three years. Since the beginning of 2024, the magnesium market has continued to
decline under pressure. Magnesium prices continue to explore the bottom, downstream purchases are generally
cautious, and factories and enterprises are suffering from severe losses. The magnesium metal market is under
heavy pressure.

Factory price of magnesium ingots in China in 2023 (RMB/ton)
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

“The magnesium-aluminum price ratio back to reasonable range”

The continuous decline in magnesium prices has restrained the profitability of magnesium enterprises and posed
challenges to their operations. However, when looking at the price ratio between magnesium and aluminum,
the lower price of magnesium is beneficial for promoting downstream applications such as magnesium-
based hydrogen storage materials and magnesium construction templates. Magnesium is one-third lighter
than aluminum, so typically, the price of magnesium is 1.5-2 times that of aluminum. In 2023, the price ratio of
magnesium to aluminum remained at a relatively low level, with 9 months below 1.2, reaching a minimum of
1.08 and ending the Year at 1.18. These figures indicate a significant cost-effectiveness advantage of magnesium
compared to aluminum. Looking back over the past decade, the price ratio between magnesium and aluminum
has remained within a reasonable range. After experiencing significant fluctuations in magnesium prices due
to factors such as rising international raw material prices and Chinese Government environmental policies in
2021 and 2022, the ratio has returned to a reasonable range, highlighting the cost-effectiveness advantage and
functional value of magnesium. The increasing innovation and development of magnesium and magnesium
alloys are creating new opportunities for expanded applications.

“Upgrading and transforming production facilities are imperative”

The overall economic environment is unfavorable, and the industry is facing a downturn, impacting all players
in the magnesium industry. The performance of the Group in 2023 was not impressive, with high costs and
continuously declining magnesium prices, putting pressure on the Company profits. Meanwhile, in response
to the requirements of the Chinese Government's Ministry of Ecology and Environment and other functional
departments regarding the promotion of ultra-low emissions in the coking industry, as well as the guidelines
for industrial restructuring issued by the National Development and Reform Commission, the local government
in Hami, Xinjiang, where REMT's subsidiary Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co., Ltd. ["Xinjiang
Tengxiang”) is located, has mandated that designated industry production facilities must undergo upgrading
and renovation. This includes major magnesium production enterprises like Xinjiang Tengxiang, which primarily
utilise lanthanum coke tail gas for magnesium refining. Shortly after completing the restructuring of our offshore
debts, we still face numerous challenges. Market demand is weak, and there is a tight cash flow. However, the
environmental upgrade and renovation require a significant amount of capital investment. The management
is actively seeking financing and exploring various financing methods, including but not limited to introducing
venture capital, equity financing, project partnerships, and other financing options. They are making efforts to
find the best possible solution to meet the funding requirements.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)

PROSPECTS

Xinjiang Tengxiang is a key production base of our Group. In response to the environmental requirements set
by the relevant Chinese Government departments, it is imperative to upgrade and transform the outdated
production facilities of the lanthanum charcoal production line at Xinjiang Tengxiang. The management team
is actively creating conditions for offshore financing platform, expanding financing channels, and making every
effort to raise funds to address the environmental upgrade and transformation needs. Additionally, the Board
will actively explore the feasibility of business transformation to enhance the long-term sustainable development
momentum of the Group. On behalf of the Group. | would like to sincerely thank all shareholders, members of
the Board, customers, banks, partners, and all colleagues for their strong support to the Group. | would also
like to express heartfelt gratitude to all employees of the Group for their outstanding performance. In the face
of the complex internal and external environment, such as global industrial chain adjustments and a sluggish
consumer market, the challenges we are facing are immense. Let us bravely face obstacles and move forward
with determination. Let us seize opportunities, embrace change, and continuously innovate and progress!

Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the revenue of the Group was
HK$263,491,000 (2022: HK$383,899,000), representing
a year-on-year decrease of 31.4%. During the Year,
the overall gross loss was HK$85,281,000, turning
from a overall gross profit of HK$46,614,000 in
the comparative periods. The loss attributable to
shareholders was HK$423,600,000 (2022: profit of
HK$1,404,000).

FINANCIAL AND BUSINESS SUMMARY

LION

Revenue

EM Gross [loss)/profit

ESVAES Gross (loss)/profit margin

ZIN/NIE S DN (Loss)/Profit attributable to
(B518) & A owners of the Company

AP Net profit margin

BEER Total asset

R Total equity
RITE L (BREDEM Cash at banks lincluding

RITER) pledged bank deposits)

e X
P A My i R

Gearing ratio
Return on equity
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2022 2021

FET FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
(IR 2E1%) (82 2E1%) (REZ)
(Audited) (Audited) (Audited)

263,491 383,899 416,060
(85,281) 46,614 68,775
(32.4%) 12.1% 16.5%

(423,600) 1,404 (331,883)
TEA N/A 0.4% @M N/A

1,442,531 1,873,174 2,360,619
612,961 1,095,952 1,188,942

39,954 38,297 35,568

37.1%
0.1% TEA N/A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

MAIN OPERATION DATA ANALYSIS

The Group's revenue in 2023 witnessed a decline of
approximately HK$120,408,000, or 31.4%, compared
to the previous year.

The global economic slowdown in 2023, alongside
a challenging economic environment, impacted
industries worldwide. In the PRC, magnesium
ingot prices followed a generally decreasing trend.
Despite interim recoveries in the middle of the year,
a persistent downturn commenced in the fourth
quarter of 2023. This economic climate, coupled with
industry-specific hurdles, significantly contributed to
our revenue shortfall.

Despite a slight increase in the Group’s sales volume
of magnesium products, from 11,098 tons in 2022
to 12,300 tons in 2023, the average selling price of
the Group’s magnesium products decreased from
HK$34,592 per ton in 2022 to HK$21,337 per ton in
2023. This substantial price drop was the primary
driver behind the revenue decline.

Consequently, the Group faced an overall gross loss
of HK$85,281,000, a contrast to the HK$46,614,000
gross profit reported in the previous year's
comparative period..

OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES ANALYSIS
Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses were approximately
HK$2,301,000 (2022: HK$3,073,000), which mainly
comprised of marketing expenses and sales staff
wages. Selling and distribution expenses to revenue
ratio was approximately 0.9% (2022: 0.8%).

Administrative Expenses

Administrative expenses primarily consisted of
staff remuneration, depreciation and amortization,
audit and professional fees, as well as research
and development costs. For the year, administrative
expenses amounted to approximately HK$83,658,000
(2022: HK$126,222,000). The decrease is primarily
attributable to a provision for long outstanding
prepayments of approximately HK$28,620,000, which
was recognized in 2022; however, no similar amount
was recognized in 2023.

MR B AR AR 11
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Gain on debt restructuring

In 2022, a gain on debt restructuring of approximately
HK$267,382,000 was recognized following the
approval and sanctioning of the creditors” scheme by
the scheme creditors ("Creditors’ Scheme”) and the
High Court of Hong Kong in May 2022. No such gain
was recognized in 2023.

Impairment and Allowance

In 2023, the Group recognised a provision for
impairment loss on non-current assets, amounting to
approximately HK$203,902,000 (2022: HK$61,530,000).
This provision is a non-recurring and non-cash item,
which has been attributed to the continuous loss-
making performance of the Group's magnesium
business.

Furthermore, the Group has recorded a reversal
of allowance for expected credit loss on trade
receivables, deposits and other deposits of
HK$3,992,000 in 2023, in which an allowance of
HK$104,191,000 was recognized in 2022. This reversal
of allowance mainly represented the collection of
these aged trade receivables in 2023.

Finance Costs

The finance cost for the year totaled approximately
HK$48,793,000, representing a year-on-year
increase of HK$27,870,000, or 133.2%. This rise in
finance costs is mainly due to the full-year effect of
recognizing effective interest expenses on borrowings
under the Creditors’” Scheme and the convertible
bonds issued pursuant to it. In 2023, these amounted
to HK$45,230,000 (2022: HK$17,303,000). These
effective interest expenses are non-cash in nature
and did not impact the Company’s cash flow.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's gearing ratio, representing the total
borrowings divided by total assets, was 47.7% (2022:
34.3%). At 31 December 2023, cash in bank was
HK$39,954,000 (2022: HK$28,599,000).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-CURRENT ASSETS

In 2023, the Group’s magnesium product business
underperformed, incurring losses due to the global
economic slowdown. Given the poorer than expected
economic performance of the cash-generating unit
("CGU"), management indicated potential impairment
and assessed the assets. The carrying amounts
for property, plant, and equipment; right-of-use
assets; intangible assets; and mining rights were
approximately HK$1,020,495,000, HK$31,738,000,
HK$13,196,000, and HK$35,871,000, respectively.

The Group estimated the recoverable amount of
the CGU, including corporate assets, at around
HK$1,101,300,000. The value in use was calculated
based on five-year cash flow projections, with a pre-
tax discount rate of 13.90% and a growth rate of 2.16%,
in line with industry forecasts.

The impairment assessment indicated that the CGU's
recoverable amount was lower than its carrying
amount. The impairment loss recognized for property,
plant and equipment; right-of-use assets; intangible
assets; and mining rights was HK$188,941,000,
HK$5,876,000, HK$2,443,000, and HK$6,642,000,
respectively, ensuring no asset’s carrying amount fell
below its recoverable amount.

Exchange rate risk

The Group mainly operates in the Mainland China
and Hong Kong and is exposed to foreign exchange
risk arising from primarily with respect to Renminbi,
Hong Kong Dollars and United States Dollars.
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial
transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and
net investments in foreign operations. The Group’s
management does not expect the net foreign currency
risk from these activities to be significant and hence,
the Group does not presently hedge the foreign
exchange risks.

The Group has planned to periodically reviews liquid
assets and liabilities held in currencies other than
Hong Kong Dollars to evaluate its foreign exchange
risk exposure and consider the usage of hedging
instruments when necessary.

MR R EER A PR A A 13
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
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Interest rate risk

For interest-sensitive products and investments,
our Group analyses its interest rate exposure on a
dynamic basis and considers managing this risk in
a cost-effective manner when appropriate, through
variety of means.

Credit risk

The Group has always been aware of the credit risk
exposure of our customers. In order to minimise the
credit risk, management of the Group has authorised
a team responsible for determining credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The procedures required that all
clients were regularly assessed so that the Group
could keep track of their transaction records and
credit history.

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's current
borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$111,228,000 while its cash and cash equivalents
only amounted to approximately HK$39,954,000. As
disclosed in note 40 to the financial statements, the
Group is exposed to liquidity risk if it is not able to
raise sufficient fund to meet its financial obligations.

The directors of the Company have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity of the Group.

Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from
inadequate or failed internal processes, people and
systems or from external events. Responsibility
for managing operational risks basically rests
with functional departments of the Group and its
subsidiaries. Key function of the Group is to guide
their standard operating procedures, limits of
authority and reporting framework. Our management
will assess key operational exposures and effect
raised in business development regularly, implement
relevant measures and improve the internal control
so that risk can be responded and mitigated on a
timely and effective manner.

RERCEETRARRENEREN (AN HEES
METERBEFBINER) ARPBEERKENLRE
(BREXFEBABESERG)NER  AKETAQ
AFTEE A M B R AR CNEFEREA) e
SBRE BB ERIEETENEERENAETH
AREE - R - MIREERS - BREIEENLT
NEZRBERERREANEEEDRE - ARHBER
AR EERN2010F 10 ERIRE @ BITESWIR
HERRMELRE - ERBUKFE - TERMEERE
PERBEBRNERBEE - BWEREAELEER
ABGEC I A0 F EBNEEESER - WEK
EBERANPBEREGHBREEREZR TEETT
THRBGE - AEBIRIMEBEME TIETKTA - AEE
FE - MSEFREYL - ELEEBER  REITRIGE
BERAKREES @ BRE—T B EREEATEN
BELRREN  BEEBLEGRESRRE  KUBHEE
TRVSERRIEE - BERE - HASFEZER
BhA BASKRENRUBRESHF -

EEEW®E D (&)
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

In response to the requirements of the Chinese
Government's Ministry of Ecology and Environment
and other functional departments regarding the
promotion of ultra-low emissions in the coking
industry, as well as the guidelines for industrial
restructuring issued by the National Development
and Reform Commission, the local government
in Hami, Xinjiang, where REMT's subsidiary
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co., Ltd.
("Xinjiang Tengxiang") is located, has mandated
that designated industry production facilities must
undergo upgrading and renovation. This includes
major magnesium production enterprises like
Xinjiang Tengxiang, which primarily utilise lanthanum
coke tail gas for magnesium refining. Due to the
fact that the lanthanum charcoal production line at
Xinjiang Tengxiang was built and put into operation
in October 2010, the facilities of the production
line have become aged, outdated, and inefficient,
with a low level of energy efficiency and outdated
technology. It no longer complies with the industrial
policies of the Chinese government. The upgrade
and transformation of coking enterprises in the
Hami region have been included as a key focus of
local government supervision and regulation in 2024.
Xinjiang Tengxiang has been requested to promptly
implement the upgrade and transformation of the
outdated technology in the lanthanum charcoal
production facilities. Shortly after completing the
restructuring of our offshore debts, we still face
numerous challenges. Market demand is weak, and
there is a tight cash flow. However, the environmental
upgrade and renovation require a significant amount
of capital investment. The management is actively
seeking financing and exploring various financing
methods, including but not limited to introducing
venture capital, equity financing, project partnerships,
and other financing options. They are making efforts
to find the best possible solution to meet the funding
requirements.
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Investment risk

Investment risk can be defined as the likelihood of
extension of its return period relative to the expected
return or occurrence of losses on any particular
investment attributable to changes of external
factors. The Group is well aware of the importance
of exploring various business opportunities and
territories on a continual basis, and implemented
this as the key task of the year. Key concern of
projects investment framework will be balancing risk
and return across different investments, and thus
risk assessment is a core aspect of the investment
decision process. Proper investment assessment
and due diligence procedures have been set up and
detailed analysis will be made before approving
investments. Regular updates on the progress of the
investments of our Group would be submitted to the
Board.

The Group's offshore debt restructuring was
completed in 2022, but domestic bank loan litigation
has entered the execution stage. As mentioned in the
2023 Interim Results, Baishan Tianan Magnesium
Metal Mining Co., Ltd. ("Baishan Tianan"), received
a summons from a PRC court on 2 June 2021, due
to Baishan Tianan’s failure to fulfill the loan terms
with a bank in the PRC. The bank filed a claim
against Baishan Tianan, demanding immediate
repayment of all outstanding principal, interest,
and other relevant fees. The related bank loan was
secured by the land use rights, factory buildings,
and machinery equipment owned by Baishan Tianan
located in Baishan City, Jilin Province, China (the
“Baishan Tianan Assets”). As of the date of this
report, the outstanding principal amount owed to the
bank is RMB64,000,000. The Company has received
an execution ruling from the Baishan Court dated
5 February 2024, and has been informed that the
Baishan Court will auction the Baishan Tianan Assets
from 10 March 2024 to 11 March 2024, with a total
reserve price of approximately RMB132.79 million.
The proceeds from the auction are expected to be
used primarily to repay the related debts of Baishan
Tianan. The Baishan Tianan Assets have been in idled
for years. As of the date of this report, the auction has
been unsuccessful.
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MANPOWER AND RETENTION RISK

Manpower risk means huge demand for talents
because of the Group's rapid business development
while at the same time facing severe competition
over specialists from the industry and turnover of
manpower. Our Group may face the risk of not being
able to recruit and retain key personnel and talents
with appropriate and required skills, experience and
competence to cope with the expansion of business
which would meet with our business objectives.
Our Group will periodically conduct a thorough
analysis over its remuneration system, as well as
incentive mechanism and optimize the compensation
structure so as to ensure remuneration packages
can align reasonably with market standard and
maintain its competitiveness. Meanwhile, recruitment
channels are broadened and the talent pool of senior
management are strengthened, so as to further
enhance the promotion opportunities and career path
of employees. Systematic staff training are also being
further enhanced to increase the overall effectiveness
of training and the dissemination of corporate
cultures and values.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

Environmental policies and performance mainly
means that the PRC Government is paying increasing
attention to environmental rules and policies and is
imposing more stringent regulatory requirements.
The Group's subsidiaries and newly acquired
enterprises have been operating for a long while
which might lag behind in certain environmental
and duty requirements promulgated by the PRC
Government. The Group monitors impact on business
development closely raised from movements of
environmental policy and external factors. Acting
in an environmentally responsible manner and
performing social responsibilities, the Group is
committed to improving and maintaining the long
term sustainability of the communities in which it
operates. The Group endeavours to comply with laws
and regulations regarding environmental protection
and adopt effective measures to achieve efficient use
of resources, energy saving and waste reduction.
Green initiatives and measures have been adopted in
daily operation of the Group. Such initiatives include
recycling of resources, energy saving measures and
water saving practices.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group’s operations are mainly carried out by the
Company’s subsidiaries in Mainland China while the
Company is listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
The Group’s operations accordingly shall comply
with relevant laws and regulations in Mainland China
and Hong Kong. During the year ended 31 December
2023 and up to the date of this report, to the best
of our knowledge, the Group has no material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES AND KEY
STAKEHOLDERS

The number of employees of the Group was
approximately 352 as at 31 December 2023. The
remuneration of employees was determined by the
Group with reference to their performance, work
experience and current market conditions. Employee
benefits include annual leave, medical insurance and
provident fund scheme. There has been no labour
dispute or significant change in the relationship with
the employees that affect the normal operations
of the Group. The Directors believe that the Group
maintains admirable relations with its employees.

Our Group understands that it is important to
maintain good relationship with business partners,
shareholders, investors and banks to achieve its long-
term goals. To keep up with our key stakeholders
closely, the Group has formulated corresponding
scheme about investor relationship, and also
holds tailored activities from time to time, such as
annual/extraordinary general meetings, on-site
visits, seminars and road-shows. Accordingly, our
senior management has kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business
latest update about development of the Group with
our stakeholders when appropriate. During the year,
there was no material dispute between our Group and
its business partners or banks.
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PROJECT OVERVIEW
Dolomite Mine

The Group's dolomite mine is situated in Baishan
City, Jilin Province, the PRC. The mine is operated
by open-pit method, and therefore no additional
exploration works are involved or required. Only
simple infrastructure works for open-pit mining
are involved in the development activities, and no
underground exploration or structural works are
involved. The dolomite mined is raw material for
producing magnesium products of the Group. The
transportation cost for raw material is relatively
low due to the close proximity of the mine to the
production base of the Group.

The dolomite mine of the Group was reported under
the Chinese resource/reserve categories. As at 31
December 2023, the anticipated resource and reserve
volumes were determined based on the yearly
reduction of quantity mined to calculate the remaining
resource and reserve volumes. There is no material
change in the assumptions of estimation by the Group
as compared with those previously disclosed. The
resource and reserve volumes was reviewed by the
Group's internal geological experts. For the year
ended 31 December 2023, the dolomite output was
39,227 tonnes. As compared with the state as at 31
December 2022, there was no material change in the
resource estimate and ore reserve of the dolomite
mine.

The expenditure incurred in mining activities of
dolomite for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately HK$nil while the expenditure incurred
in exploration and development activities was HK$nil.
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The Company recognises the importance of good corporate
governance to the long-term development of the Group and
has devoted considerable efforts in identifying, formulating,
implementing and enhancing corporate governance practices in
accordance with the needs of the Group. As mentioned below,
the Company has established the relevant committees/sub-
committee and adopted certain internal policies to improve
internal controls and enhance transparency of business
operation of the Group with a view to protect the interests of its
stakeholders.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company has
complied with the Code on Corporate Governance Practices [the
“Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the "Listing Rules”), save for the deviations as disclosed in
“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” section.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors (the “Model Code”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct of the Group
regarding securities transactions of the directors of the Company
(the "Directors”) on terms no less exactly than required standard
set out in the Model Code. Having made specific enquiry of all
Directors, all Directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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THE BOARD

Currently, the Board comprises the following five Directors:

Executive Directors

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Lin Pengxuan

Functions of the Board

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategies
and policies of the Group, reviewing and monitoring its
financial performance, including preparing and approving
financial statements and overseeing operational matters of
the management, considering the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting
and financial reporting function and their training programmes
and budget. Daily business operations and administrative
functions of the Group are delegated to the management.

Board meetings and practices

The Board meets regularly and board meetings are held at least
four times a year at approximately quarterly intervals. Notices
and agenda of regular board meetings are served to all Directors
at least fourteen days before the meetings to ensure that all
Directors are given the opportunity to attend and to include
matters in the agenda. Discussion materials of regular board
meetings are sent to all Directors for their study at least three
days prior to the meetings. Draft minutes of board meetings
are circulated to all Directors for review and comments within a
reasonable time after the meetings prior to confirmation. Minutes
are recorded in sufficient detail of the matters considered by the
Board and decisions reached.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Board meetings and practices (continued)

RBEE_ZE_=F+_A=1+T—HI%F During the year ended 31 December 2023, four board meetings
ERN  RRARHABITANREZSE were held by the Company, and the individual attendance rate
%O REENEEg S ZESCH of each Director at meetings of the Board, its committees and
KRR GZ @R HEEMT General Meetings is as follows:
g/ 8o ed
Attended/held
3 B % el
EE ZESER ZEgeE ZEEgE e VN
Audit Nomination ~ Remuneration Members
Board Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
HTES Executive Directors
RLE" Shum Sai Chit 44 - 1 - 1
e Chi Sile L4 - - - 11
BYFHITES Independent Non-executive
Directors
B Kwong Ping Man 4f4 5/5 N 1 1
RER Cheung Sound Poon 4l4 5/5 - 1 1
G Lin Pengxuan 4lh 5/5 - - 1

B EMHBIEI0(1)K%(2) - LAKI10AMK
ZEE  ARFERERHHEE 2B
FRITEE MBUFRTESFNE
LE—REBEESTIEBIBER
ER -EFCEWNIZBILIIFERTES
BIE AR BIEE3. 13 s E B 2 14w & Bl
VEW 2 FERERK ©

SEEEREBCHTYEFEBRYS - X
% KBRHEMEKR MEAENEE

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and 3.10A of the Listing Rules,
sufficient number of Independent Non-executive Directors have
been appointed and at least one of the remaining Independent
Non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board has received annual
confirmation of independence from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

There is no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Directors” Continuous Professional Development

The Company updates the Directors of the latest changes
in the Listing Rules, Companies Ordinance and other
applicable regulatory requirements from time to time. Apart
from encouraging the Directors to participate in continuous
professional development ("CPD") courses to refresh and
enhance their knowledge and skills, the Company also arranged
an industry-related in-house seminar for the Directors and
provided them with reading materials relating to the directors’
duties. All Directors have provided the Company with their
records of training they received during the year ended 31
December 2023.

A summary of the trainings participated by the Directors during
the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:

BRI
F& K
Types of
continuous
professional
development
&2 Directors training Notes
BITES Executive Directors
Tt Shum Sai Chit B
PERESS Chi Sile B
BUFHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
BB IR L Kwong Ping Man AKX B
Aand B
SRE AR Cheung Sound Poon AKB
Aand B
MBS Lin Pengxuan AKB
Aand B
PR EE - Notes:
A: I B 58 B Bl I 31 AR AR A: Attending seminar(s) or training session(s)
B: MHERE TWREBAAREBIXEEFHRAERE B: Reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the Company’s business or

T LR EMEREERERNERENE
R AR

directors’ duties and responsibilities, the latest development of the Listing Rules and
other applicable regulatory requirements, etc.
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THE BOARD (continued)
Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the following corporate
governance duties of the Company in accordance with the “Terms
of Reference of Corporate Governance Function” adopted by it:

(a) to develop and review the Company’ s policies and
practices on corporate governance and make appropriate
recommendations;

(b) to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(c) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct
applicable to employees and Directors; and

(d) to review the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.

During the year under review, the Board has performed the
following corporate governance duties:

e Reviewed and approved the contents of the Corporate
Governance Report included in the 2022 annual report of the

Company; and

e Adopted the "Board Diversity Policy".
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT [CUNTlNUEU]

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Subsequent to the retirement of Ms. Chi Bi Fen as Chief Executive
Officer in 2019, Mr. Shum Sai Chit, the chairman and an executive
Director, has been appointed as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company.

Mr. Shum Sai Chit has numerous years of experience in the
management of the Company and is familiar with all aspects of
the Group’s operations and the Board considers that Mr. Shum
Sai Chit is well qualified to take up the role of the Chief Executive
Officer.

Following the appointment of Mr. Shum as Chief Executive Officer,
the Company does not have a separate chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. Shum holds both positions, in which
there is deviation to code provision C.2.1 of Corporate Governance
Code as set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, which
provides (among other matters) that the roles of the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Mr. Shum Sai Chit had
been in charge of the overall management of the Company since
2015 and the Company considered that such arrangement would
promote the efficient formulation and implementation of the
Company’s strategies which would enable the Group to further
develop its businesses effectively at this stage. The Board will
review the current structure from time to time and shall make
necessary arrangements when the Board considers appropriate.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The terms of appointment of the Non-executive Directors and the
Independent Non-executive Directors are fixed for a specific term,
and shall be subject to retirement by rotation and re-election in
accordance with the Bye-laws of the Company (the "Bye-laws").
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee respectively. Each committee is delegated with
specific authorities by the Board in assisting the Board to
discharge its duties and to administer particular aspects of the
Group’s activities. The roles and functions of each committee are
summarized below:

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established in 1999. The Company
has adopted Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee in
compliance with the Code. The Audit Committee comprises three
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping
Man (chairman of the Audit Committee), Mr. Cheung Sound Poon
and Mr. Lin Pengxuan.

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee is to provide
an independent and professional advice on financial reporting and
review the internal control of the Group.

The Audit Committee will report to the Board of the significant
issues discussed by the Committee for the Board's information
and/or consideration.

The Audit Committee has held five meetings in the year ended 31
December 2023 and has reviewed the final results for the period
ended 31 December 2022 and the interim results for the six
months ended 30 June 2023, and confirmed that the accounting
principles and practices adopted as well as the disclosures made
in such financial statements were appropriate, accurate and fair.
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BOARD COMMITTEES /continued)
Audit Committee (continued)

The Audit Committee has also discussed with the auditors on the
scope of audit for the year ended 31 December 2023, and reviewed
the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of staff
of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function, and
their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established in 1996. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Remuneration
Committee in compliance with the Code. The Remuneration
Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum
Sai Chit [Chairman of Remuneration Committee] and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping
Man and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on the Company's policy and
structure in relation to remuneration of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. It schedules to meet at least once
a year to review and determine the remuneration packages of
the Executive Directors and senior management and to make
recommendation to the Board of the remuneration of Non-
executive Director. In determining and approving the remuneration
of Directors and senior management of the Company, the
Remuneration Committee will take into consideration of various
factors such as market competitiveness, individual performance
and profitability of the Company and its business units.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2023 to review the existing remuneration
policies of the Directors and senior management of the Company,
etc..

R E TR AR AR 97
2023 BFHRE



EXRERRE (B)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEBEN2ZES®
REEES
BLEBEN T ——FEK  AATF
B2ERFAZ THBEIRMIELES
SrBEHE - I2AEESNE AIEH
TEER AL (EREER TR RM
LB IEHITEE - BB S Bk
BesT 4 4 o

REZESAERNEZTSIZRE A
BNEK - MEABREERALAEE
EZATYREE2ZERBERNES
SEHEZ  FEBUIFRATEEZHE
N AMERARRESTENESZ T
EBEZMITEEE -

T—BLEZFEABRTBE-REH &
RIAEMRZES N - B REENATE
R

s RMUBEFTZEERNER  UEK
ENAEE 2 AENBRE - AR
BN BESFERBUNAAKENE
BRERME &

e REUBRTZEFEXNEZTILZE
o

BOARD COMMITTEES /continued)
Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established in 2012. The
Company has adopted Terms of Reference of the Nomination
Committee with reference to the Code. The Nomination
Committee comprises an Executive Director, namely Mr. Shum
Sai Chit (chairman of the Nomination Committee) and two
Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping
Man and Mr. Lin Pengxuan.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
structure, size and composition of the Board, identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become Directors and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
reappointment of Directors, assessing the independence of
the Independent Non-executive Directors and monitoring the
implementation of the Board Diversity Policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting in the year
ended 31 December 2023, together with by means of written
resolutions, to review and deal with the following major issues:

e  Reviewed the qualifications and experiences of individual
Directors as well as their roles and responsibilities in the
Group to ensure the existing Board structure is fit for the
business growth of the Group; and

e  Reviewed the degree of diversity of the existing Board.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY SUMMARY

The Company has adopted the Board Diversity Policy. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity
of its Board members. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy and competence, and the candidates will be
considered against certain objective criteria such as gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
qualifications, areas of experience, skills, knowledge and length
of services, etc. The ultimate decision will be based on merits and
contributions that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the total remunerations
paid/payable by the Company to its external auditors in respect of
the audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

F#ET

BR 7% 58 B Types of services HK$°000
BEZIRTS Audit services 800
Bz Total 800

EERUVBHRR2ER

EERARSEEEIREVTEERATF
WRBASEEHEMRRAREE 2B
BR - BHE_ZE-_=Z=F+_A=+—
BIEFE AEBEHBHEAEFEEY
423,600,000/ 7T ©
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(B ARSI -

=
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR PREPARATION OF THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing
the financial statements which give a true and fair view of the
state of the Group’s affairs and results. The Group recorded a
consolidated net loss of approximately HK$423,600,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The statement of the auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set out
in the “Independent Auditor’'s Report” on pages 47 to 55 of this
annual report.

R E TR AR AR 929
2023 BFHRE



EXRERRE (B)
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

NRWE
BE-E-—RENA-+RHE BERL
TEZTAERAIWE - BELFEEE
FYARERR I IHERELEN - I
FERRYBEBEESZ  FThAEEES
o egE  AEBTFE - €
i UBEERDERELR -

BAR ETRAISE3.2006 - BEERBE—
Z_=F+_A=+—HBLEFEAEZ
B D5/ N AR R F AR o

R R A
RERARKRRERI RS
RIBABADRES8E  RNIEHHEEK
EEHRAAREARAKRRAGRERE
ARREHBEATDR10% R - B
ERAEEFSXANFWEELEIAME
Ko BREZSARBRERBI ARG AR
BERMBRANBEEZEMER > MEZE
FARBHERZELEANRA Z MM
ZREMIMEAANEIT - MEZFREN
EEEMERE_+T-ARNERgE "
BHBEREAGAZBARE- NN\ —
FRAPE(TRBIRD B 74LR1G 2 RE B

P
& =
=ik

COMPANY SECRETARY

Since 20 August 2015, Mr. Fan Kwok Man, Raymond has
been appointed as the Company Secretary. Mr. Fan holds a
Bachelor of Business Administration in Insurance, Financial and
Actuarial Analysis from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
and he is member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and has over 10 years of experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and corporate finance.

According to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. Fan has taken no
less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the
year ended 31 December 2023.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convention of Special General meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, Shareholders holding at
the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 10% of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company,
to require a special general meeting to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of
such requisition to the Company’s registered office. If within 21
days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such
meeting, the requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981 (the "Companies Act”).
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS /continued)
Putting Forward Proposals at General meetings by Shareholders

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, registered
Shareholders are entitled to put forward a proposal at a general
meeting if they:

(a) represent not less than 5% of the total voting rights of the
Company at the date of the deposit of the requisition; or

(b) are not less than 100 registered Shareholders.

The written requisition stating the resolution(s) should be duly
signed by the registered Shareholder(s) concerned, accompanied
by a statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to the
matter referred to in the proposed resolution or the business
to be dealt with must be deposited at the Company’s registered
office. The Company would take appropriate actions and make
necessary arrangements. The Shareholder(s) concerned would
be responsible for the expenses incurred in giving effect thereto
in accordance with the requirements under Sections 79 and 80 of
the Companies Act once valid documents are received.

Enquiries from Shareholders

The Board welcomes views, enquires and concerns in relation to
the management and corporate governance of the Group from
Shareholders. Shareholders may at any time send their enquires
and/or concerns to the Board in writing by email (info@remt.com.
hk), by fax ((852) 2802 2697) or by mail to the principal place of
business of the Company for follow up.

For shareholding enquiries, Shareholders may contact the Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office of the Company,
Tricor Secretaries Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the Company
was updated on the websites of the Company and The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong ("Stock Exchange”] on 4 July 2023 and
there is no other change in such constitutional document during
the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibilities for risk management and
internal control of the Group. The system of internal control is
designed to manage and mitigate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives with reasonable assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

During the year under review, the Board has conducted review
of the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Group.
The scope of review would cover risk management functions,
financial, operational and compliance controls, the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function and their training
programmes and budget, etc..

The Company have formulated an inside information policy
providing guideline on handling inside information. The Company
regularly reminds the directors and employees about compliance
with all policies adopted by the Company regarding inside
information including the Model Code set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in securities of the
Company.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Group is committed to enhance investor relationship by
increasing its transparency to the investment community.

The following measures have been taken by the Company to keep
investors informed of the latest developments and news of the
Group and to facilitate a two-way communication between the
Company and its Shareholders:

(a)  Mailing corporate communication documents such as
interim reports, annual reports and circulars to the
Shareholders periodically and uploading the same on the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange;

(b) Publishing announcements through the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange;

(c) Making available of the Company’s corporate and products
information on its website;

(d) Organizing general meetings to facilitate direct exchange of
views between the Shareholders and the management of the
Company; and

(e} Encouraging investors to communicate with the Company
through the Company’s website from time to time.

At the Company's last AGM held on 29 June 2023, all the
resolutions relating to the adoption of financial statements, re-
election of Directors, reappointment of auditors and grant of
general mandates to issue and repurchase shares have been duly
passed. The forthcoming AGM of the Company is scheduled to be
held in June 2024 or any other dates as specified in further notice
of AGM meeting to be published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange later.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. SHUM Sai Chit, age 66, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
of the Group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Shum was the
Managing Director of Go Modern Limited which was principally
engaged in manufacturing of textile products and trading
activities. In 1984, Mr. Shum joined Fujian Textiles Import and
Export Corporation as a Manager to oversee importing and
exporting of textile products. Mr. Shum is a graduate of Consumer
Product Pricing and Statistics. Mr. Shum was also an executive
director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code:
509) until 31 July 2021.

Ms. CHI Sile, aged 35, was appointed as an executive director
of the Company on 1 August 2021. Prior to her appointment,
she was the director of investor relations department of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (stock code: 509) and
responsible for managing investor relations. Ms. Chi holds a MBA
degree from the University of Hong Kong and a double degree
of Bachelor of Laws and Bachelor of Arts from the University of
Western Australia. Ms. Chi is the daughter of Mr. Chi Wen Fu, the
chairman and executive director of Century Sunshine.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. KWONG Ping Man, age 59, is a director of O'Park Corporate
Services Limited which provides corporate advisory services.
Mr. Kwong had served as the chief financial officer of various
companies for almost seven years. Mr. Kwong has over 15
years of experience in accounting, finance and administration.
He obtained a master's degree in Professional Accounting
from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member
of the Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants,
fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants, and associate member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Company Secretaries. Mr. Kwong is currently an independent
non-executive director of Tang Palace (China) Holdings Limited
(Stock Code: 1181), Landrich Holding Limited (Stock Code: 2132)
and Royal Deluxe Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 3789). He was
an independent non-executive director of Dragon King Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8493) from 15 December 2017 to 9
April 2021.

Mr. CHEUNG Sound Poon, age 63, is currently a senior audit
manager at Chui & Kwok (CPA). He was an audit senior at Gary W.
K. Yam & Co. [CPA). Mr. Cheung has over 40 years of experience
in accounting and auditing. He is currently an independent non-
executive director of Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
(stock code: 509).

Mr. LIN Pengxuan, aged 40, was the senior compliance manager
of Donghai International Financial Holdings Company Limited
till 8 August 2022 and prior to that engagement, he has worked
as the Compliance Director of Zhongrong PT Securities Limited
and Zhongrong PT Finance Limited and the Chief Compliance
Officer of Well Link Securities Limited. Mr. Lin has over eight
years of working experience in internal control and compliance.
Mr. Lin has obtained a Ph.D. in International Finance of Applied
Economics from Xiamen University, the Master of Laws from
Translational Law and Business University and the Bachelor of
Laws from East China University of Politics and Law.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LU Tianyuan, age 59, is responsible for the corporate affairs
management of the Group. Mr. Lu is a graduate of Chinese
Language and Literature and is an economist. He has over 15
years of relevant experience in corporate affairs management.
Prior to joining the Group, he has worked in a large alloy
enterprise for over 25 years. He joined the Group in 2015.

Mr. BAl Haisheng, aged 55, currently serves as the chief Engineer
of the group. Mr. Bai graduated from the Department of Materials
Science and Engineering, with a specialization in thermal
processing from Taiyuan University of Technology. Before
joining the group, he was responsible for the production process
technology and product research and development management
in several large magnesium enterprises and has over 20 years of
extensive experience in the magnesium industry. He joined the
Group in 2016.

Mr. ZHANG Junchao, aged 47, has more than fifteen years of
experience in marketing magnesium products. He has previously
held managerial positions such as the manager of the supply
and marketing department, manager of the trade department,
and general manager of a production base. He is currently the
General Manager of Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co.,
Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group.

Mr. ZHU Xinlong, also aged 47, is responsible for the production
management of Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Co.,
Ltd., a subsidiary of the Group. Mr. Zhu has over 20 years of
practical and management experience in the magnesium industry
and is adept in the production process of magnesium and
magnesium alloys as well as on-site organizational management.
He joined the Group in 2019.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Board presents their report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries is set out in note 1 to the
financial statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including
a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future development in the
Group’s business, can be found in the Management Discussion
and Analysis set out on pages 10 to 19 of this annual report. This
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group recognises environmental protection is of vital
importance to the long-term development of the Group. In order
to minimise the environmental impact, the Group will continue to
review and improve the effectiveness of its management practices
from time to time. "Environmental, Social and Governance
Report” will be published on or before 30 April 2024. For details,
please refer to the Company’s website.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and the
Group's financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 56 to 59.

No interim dividend was paid by the Company during the year
under review. No payment of final dividend to Shareholders
is recommended for the year ended 31 December 2023. The
accumulated losses of the Group as at 31 December 2023 was
approximately HK$30,317,000.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
For the year ended 31 December 2023:

(i]  The Group's largest customer and the five largest customers
accounted for 16.8% and 47.2% respectively of the Group’s
total revenue.

(i)  The Group's largest supplier and the five largest suppliers
accounted for 26.3% and 59.3% respectively of the Group’'s
total purchases [not including purchases of items which are
of capital in nature).

According to the understanding of the Board, none of the
Directors, their associates or any Shareholders who owned more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital had any interest in the
five largest customers or the five largest suppliers.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities, and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements and
restated as appropriate, is set out on pages 179 to 180. This
summary does not form part of the audited financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Except as disclosed in the note 30 to the financial statements,
there were no movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda (as amended] ["Companies Act”) amounted
to HK$521,318,000. Under the Companies Act, the Company’s
contributed surplus is also available for distribution to the
Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution made
out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the Company
unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or the realisable
value of its assets would thereby become less than its liabilities.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date
of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Shum Sai Chit (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer]
Chi Sile

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Kwong Ping Man
Cheung Sound Poon
Lin Pengxuan

Pursuant to Bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws, Ms. Chi Sile, Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Kwong Ping Man will retire by rotation. Mr.
Kwong Ping Man has informed the Company that he will retire
as independent non-executive Director of the Company after the
conclusion of the AGM and will not offer himself for re-election
at the AGM. Ms. Chi Sile and Mr. Cheung Sound Poon, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the AGM.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Group which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.

INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of its Independent Non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Kwong Ping Man, Mr. Cheung
Sound Poon and Mr. Lin Pengxuan, an annual confirmation
confirming their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

Accordingly, the Company considers all the Independent Non-
executive Directors are independent.
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EEHRAE 2R SER DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES EERAE RS ERne DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES /continued)

NEREFMPEGIIE352GMEFE associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
ZERMATREE - AR R AP 8% and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of

10F7 8 2 1R 2E =7 Bl M AN 1 &) K Bgt 32 B PR the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the "SFO”)}, as recorded WA D AREES T EERYE (FR)
Rl SEERBEZHBEATRAR in the register maintained by the Company under Section 352 of Number of ordinary shares interested or deemed
AINHBEAR(EE RES LB IRD the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock to be interested (long position)
([ KRG 5P EXVER) #E A 2 Ik h Exchange pursuant to the Model Code set out in Appendix 10 to e
N 2 R T - the Listing Rules, were as follows: o
B#iT2
R . . fis Raz
RARFR - HEARD KBS Interests in the Shares, underlying shares and debenture of the Company g5z T P BAEE  SEX  BREHE @i A8k
e % of issued
share
B B R Number of capital of
? B S : Personal Family options associated
ey R DGR RL (e (el e Names of Directors Name of associated corporation interests interests held Total  corporation
(R
BRTRA gL et EEERERAR (L) 14,666,305 - 20000000 34,666,305 0.76%
BE TR Shum Sai Chit Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited
%5 BAER  REER  BREEE  ADER L ASk \ ['Century Sunshine’)
Approximate AR eEiopy 36,736,742 - - 36736862 0.80%
percentage of ChiSile Century Sunshine
interests in gﬁ%\$ ﬁ'%ﬁﬁ%% - - 5,[][][],000 5,000,000 0.11%
the issued Cheung Sound Poon Century Sunshine
share capital
Personal Family Number of Corporate of the
Director interests interests  options held interests Total Company
iy
Long position
Nil
RE
Short position
&
Nil
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES /continued)
Interests in the shares of associated corporations (long position) (continued)

Save as disclosed above, at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or their associates had any interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as defined in the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

In order to attract and retain the best quality employees for the
development of the Group’s businesses and to provide additional
incentives or rewards to selected qualifying participants, the
Company adopted a share option scheme on 4 December 2017
(the "Scheme”]. The qualifying participants mainly include
employees and directors of the Group and any substantial
shareholders, and the consultants or adviser, distributors,
contractors, suppliers, service providers, agent, customer and
business partner of the Group who have contribution to the Group.
The Scheme, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain
in force for 10 years since its establishing date. The remaining life
of the Scheme is approximately 4 years (expiry on 4 December
2027).
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, there was no options of outstanding
under the Scheme (the “Options”).

R
R St
I £ £ £/ £ t=A
—-A-H Rtz Tz A kX2 =t-H
A BhRE BhRE ERE BhE A i@
Options Options Options Options
Held at granted exercised cancelled lapsed Held at
1 January during during the during during 31 December Exercise
2023 the year year the year the year 2023 price
B
HKS$
A &8
Employees 8,170,000 - - - (8,170,000) - N/A
7,000,000 - - - (7,000,000] - N/A
B EZ
Directors
phuE 1,500,000 - - - (1,500,000 - N/A
Shum Sai Chit
BImX 250,000 - - - (250,000) - N/A
Kwong Ping Man
RER 250,000 - - - (250,000] - N/A
Cheung Sound Poon
10,170,000 - - - (10,170,000) - N/A
7,000,000 - - - (7,000,000] - N/A
17,170,000 - - - (17,170,000) - -
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and the
senior management of the Group are set out on pages 34 to 36 of
the annual report.

DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in “Directors’ interests in securities”, at no
time during the year was the Company, or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits by
means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS" REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders” approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 December 2023, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
was in force for an indemnity against liability incurred by the
Directors.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No Directors nor a connected entity of Directors had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of
the Group to which any of the Company’s holding companies,
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
sold or redeemed any listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 31 December 2023.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 December 2023, the register of substantial shareholders
kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO shows
that other than the interests disclosed above in respect of certain
Directors, the following Shareholder had notified the Company of
relevant interests and short positions in the issued share capital
of the Company:

REREH

Name of Shareholder

Ming Xin Developments Limited(Fff3F1) (note 1)

New Bright Group Limited(Fff5£2) (note 2)
A2 RS K R EIE AR B R 2 7 (K15E3)

Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited (note 3]

A= (FiaE4)

Chi Wen Fu (note 4)
Thoughtful Limited (Fff3£5) (note 5)
Concord Sea Limited(Mf5E6) (note 6)
So Kit Yee Anita(Ffi7E55%.6) (note 5 & 6)

Leung Hin Hang Fredric (i35 6)(note 5 & 6)

FrfsEdmR IHEBITRA
R EE 2B
Number of
ordinary % of issued
shares held share capital
237,049,786 (L) 40.0
237,049,786 (L) 40.0
237,049,786 (L) 40.0
237,049,786 (L) 40.0
42,823,900 (L) 7.2
78,772,680 (L) ke
121,596,580 (L) 20.5
121,596,580 (L) 20.5

Wi

(1) 237,435,871% AMing Xin Developments Limited & #
A -

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited &New Bright Group
LimitedZ 2 EMBA T « #Ult - $LEF KRB KA
& * New Bright Group Limited#%4% &% & Ming
Xin Developments Limited A %5 2 2 2R 15 2 #

25 o

m

(3) New Bright Group Limited/&tt 4253 2 2 EHE X
Al o Bl - MBS REBEKRAIM S - HEBRER
/2B Ming Xin Developments Limited B2 2
BRI 2 A o

(4) X EEREFEHELS K (Ming Xin Developments
Limited ZREIER DR RR ARG LZEHI=H2 —
SUA ERAEE o MUt - MBS RBEKRAMES B
& S AR A ¥E A Ming Xin Developments Limited
AR RN 2 -

B) MEARFAEHEHFREBRAZENZHE - RFAR
ZEZFN\AAA#K65,843,90008 B 1T E @A
w4 5 A EI (B Thoughtful Limited) © BRZE K
THRRTEAERATRENBSEIEE © Thoughtful
Limited REBEFRERE_S_=ZFEERET
18,670,000 3@A%

(6) BEAAREEFTREEAZENZE - REIRZ

T =1 AXB1579,012,6800 B 31T L EALEE

#4H %2 (AlConcord Sea Limited)  gRZ2E L+

MBHTERERHRNBATIES - ROTEREN

RERE_E_=FAAANAE+-_A=+—AH
RIS T 240,000 A% -

Notes:

(1) 237,435,871 shares are beneficially owned by Ming Xin Developments Limited.

(2) Ming Xin Developments Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of New Bright Group
Limited. As such, New Bright Group Limited is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

(3) New Bright Group Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine. As
such, Century Sunshine is deemed to be interested in all the shares in which Ming Xin
Developments is interested by virtue of the SFO.

(4) Mr. Chi Wen Fu controls more than one-third or more of the voting power at
general meetings of Century Sunshine (the ultimate holding company of Ming Xin
Developments Limited). As such, Mr. Chi Wen Fu is deemed to be interested in all the
shares in which Ming Xin Developments Limited is interested by virtue of the SFO.

(5) According to the Scheme of Arrangement between the Company and its scheme
creditors, the Company transferred 65,843,900 issued ordinary shares to the scheme
company [i.e. Thoughtful Limited) on 5 August 2022. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr.
Leung Hin Hang Fredric are the joint and several administrators of the scheme.
Thoughtful Limited has disposed 18,670,000 ordinary shares for the year ended 31
December 2023 pursuant to the terms of the Scheme.

(6) According to the scheme of arrangement between the Century Sunshine and its
scheme creditors, Ming Xin Developments Limited transferred 79,012,680 issued
ordinary shares to the scheme company (i.e. Concord Sea Limited) on 6 September
2023. Ms. So Kit Yee Anita and Mr. Leung Hin Hang Fredric are the joint and several
administrators of the scheme. Concord Sea Limited has disposed 240,000 ordinary
shares for the period from 6 September 2023 to 31 December 2023 pursuant to the
terms of the Scheme.

MEM R ERREERAR 45
2023 BFHE



EEEHRE (A
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS (CONTINUED)

FERR®

B EXFIEEN RZFE=_=F+=H
=+—8  ARAMERETMALH
SRARA R S ABRE D R A RIE
BEMAEKRIARARREEZ
KB o

BrRBEER

AR EIEASE 3= TN SO k=P
BRZIGX - REARAIERLHIRR
BRRBEEH -

BRERXZ
AEEREFELIAEMBERS -
HERABA T SRR SESTAT IR A1 o

N\

BEHNBRIFRE
REARFRARREERFNER RIE
E=MA RARENDAZXEER
AfTEHE - KRR —EAER EHARRER
RN ARFFIRE ©

BB

BIE2023F11B17BHRE  BHEE
RN ERATERARIEHEAQRMNE
FTEDEEAS - T E BB e ESA
RARERZBBEESRARINELT
B o FEe@ASstmEBARRDAE
BT AR ERBRITHFEERRERXR
TrHiRERARZ  EFEom Le@EH st
MEBEER AR AQRINERTA -

AEFEEH

RS
£

BB
—ZE-_WFE=A=-+/\H

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Company
had not been notified by any persons who had interests or short
positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the SFO.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing Shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

Other than those disclosed in Note 37 to the financial statements,
there was no connected transaction during the year and in prior
period.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained the prescribed public float under the Listing Rules, as
at the latest practical date prior to the printing of this report.

AUDITORS

Pursuant to the announcement dated 17 November 2023, HLB
Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited has been resigned as the auditors
of the Company and Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited has
been appointed as the auditors as at that date. Prism Hong Kong
and Shanghai Limited will retire and the Company will propose a
resolution at its forthcoming AGM to reappoint Prism Hong Kong
and Shanghai Limited as auditors of the Company.

By order of the Board

Mr. Shum Sai Chit
Chairman

Hong Kong

28 March 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Units 1903A - 1905, 19/F, 8 Observatory Road, Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong

T:+85227742188 F:+8522774 2322
www.prism.com.hk

FEEAEHMERRERAR
EBRIDIER N 2= B8R 191E1903A-1905%
T: +852 2774 2188 F: +852 2774 2322
www.prism.com.hk

To the Shareholders of
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability]

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Rare
Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited (the
“Company”] and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as
the "Group”) set out on pages 56 to 178, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ["HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants ("HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs"] issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another auditor who
expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 24
March 2023.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

Allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables

Refer to Note 3 and Note 20 to the
consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had trade receivables of approximately
HK$145,687,000. The allowance for ECL
were approximately HK$144,038,000.

Management applied judgement
in assessing the ECL Receivables
relating to customers with known
financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision
for impairment allowance. ECL are
also estimated by recoverability of the
trade receivables and the sufficiency
of allowance for ECL based on
information including credit profile
of different customers, aging of the
trade receivables, historical settlement
records, subsequent settlement
status, expected timing and amount
of realisation of outstanding balances,
and on-going trading relationships
with the relevant customers.
Management also considered forward-
looking information that may impact
the customers’ ability to repay the
outstanding balances in order to
estimate the ECL.

We focused on this area due to the
allowance for ECL of trade receivables
under the ECL model involved the use
of significant management judgements
and estimates.

Our audit procedures in relation
to management’'s assessment on
allowance for ECL on trade receivables
included but not limited to:

o (Obtaining an understanding
and assessing the design and
implementation and evaluating
the key controls related to
credit control, debt collection
and estimating the credit loss
allowance;

o Assessing whether items in the
trade receivables ageing reports
were categorised in the appropriate
ageing bracket with underlying
sales invoices and other relevant
supporting documents, on a
sample basis;

o Obtaining and assessing the
subsequent settlement of trade
receivables against bank receipts
and other relevant supporting
documents, on a sample basis;

o Assessing the appropriateness of
the ECL provisioning methodology
of the Company, examining the
key data inputs on a sample basis
to assess their accuracy and
completeness, and challenging
the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking
information, used to determine the
ECL: and

o Re-performing the calculation
of the ECL as at 31 December
2023 based on the Group's ECL
allowance policies.

Based upon the above, we found that
the estimation and judgement made
by management in respect of the
allowance for ECL on trade receivables
were supportable by the available
evidence.
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Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights (continued)

Impairment assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use
assets, intangible assets and mining rights

FLMEAMBRRME AMHERBOREFGE

Refer to Note 3 and Note 18 to the

Qur audit procedures in relation

1R A% YR B AL B0 2 5 3R

The Group is required to perform

IRBHEE18 TRERERFAEELR consolidated financial statements. to management’'s impairment %E' ﬁ”ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ"%\’i@ impairment assessment on property,
I assessment included but not limited to: BETAENKEETET plant and equipment, right-of-use

e - Bl EEEANY assets, intangible assets and mining

RZBZ=F+ZA=+ ARETEBREN As at 31 December 2023, the carrying ¢  Evaluating the independent valuer's ® - AENEE - RARA e RIS G R

—B "% BERZ
# FHREEE BF
EERAERENEARE
P RI%A1,020,495,000
BT 31,738,0008
T 13,196,0008 TR
35,871,000 - EARIG

ONEE {5 BB R B 3L
e BEN EOR
BN

TRSNE A EET IR
RNRERRF 85
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amounts of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,
intangible assets and mining rights
were approximately HK$1,020,495,000,
HK$31,738,000, HK$13,196,000
and HK$35,871,000 respectively.
Impairment losses of approximately

independence, competence,
capabilities and objectivity who
performed the business valuation;

o Obtaining an understanding of
the valuation process adopted by
the external valuer, including the

E B AERRBELS
REFE - RRENRE
ELBU(REELEN])
REENDAERBERA
REGEREEAESER
BT LHEAKARR
RERH - AT ENEME
88 REMIE  BER

in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of the assets may not
be recoverable in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 3. The
recoverable amounts of the Group's
cash generating unit ["CGUs") was
determined based on the higher of the
asset’s fair value less costs to disposal

nE - BENEE - FRE FPELEMAREA  HK$188,941,000, HK$5,876,000, valuation model adopted, CGUs e N . , : i
AE - BVAERFBEE  ORR: HK$2,443,000 and HK$6,642,000 had ~ allocation and assumptions used; 2 RARAE AVA and its value-in-use using discounted
BRI ERHA188,941,000 been recognised in respect of property, E&W}%ﬁféﬁ’]imgﬁﬁéﬁ il cash flow projection. We focused on
B0 58760008 mNERERMR E& plant and equipment, right-of-use ¢ Enquiring the external valuer E@aﬂﬁﬁfh@k)\_ﬁ&ik@ this area because the amounts of
2,643,000 7T R 6,642,000 BEBESH N assets, intangible assets and mining and management of the Group to EEE#M&E# ’ @jﬁiﬁ property, plant and equipment, right-
AT fEREERRANER  rights respectively. assess the reasonableness of the HX’F%&E@EE&E%UE&{EW ’ of-use assets, intangible assets and

FABRE AZEN significant unobservable inputs and @ﬁiﬁ?wﬁ P;leni‘r?wgpz;ilrgr:tesntwaesrseessslgnnen;ltcz;:ct)caezz

AT B R . # \ F° Bx

;@%&{3@?%1/@% the accuracy of the source data; S involved significant management's

ERIERRT AL
MRS - RAE
BEBEMEANN
RENAEE R

ZREAMBRRM
EIBHENYE - B
FREE EREE
E EBVEERFR

o Challenging the key assumptions
including the revenue growth rate.
We considered the appropriateness
of the discount rates adopted by
management; and

o Considering the adequacy
of disclosure of impairment
assessments of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets,

BRENERENT intangible assets and mining rights
i set out note 18 to the consolidated

APES  ERENHER
R e AR S A
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financial statements.

We found that the management
judgement and assumptions were
supportable by the available evidence.

REeEEBUANEEE -

judgements and estimates including
the selection of appropriate
comparables and assumptions such
as discount rate and future revenue
in the cash flow projection. The Group
engaged an external valuer to assist
the assessment for the recoverable
amount of the CGUs.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the
information included in the annual report, but does not include
the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other
Information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with the HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance and for such internal control as the directors of the
Company determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS" RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act and our agreed terms of engagement, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's
internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.
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AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

J Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’'s
directors” use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to continue as
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

J Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditors’ report is Chin Wang Leung.

Prism Hong Kong and Shanghai Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Chin Wang Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P07806

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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REREREMEEBRAR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

HEZZFT-=F+=ZA=+—HLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

By =E
Notes
WA Revenue 6
SHE A Cost of sales
(E18)EF Gross (loss)/profit
HE sk g - 558 Other gains or losses, net b
BB EARR Gain on debt restructuring 6
HERDH H Selling and distribution expenses
T H Administrative expenses
BHRBR - ke &k Net allowance for expected credit
HEmERIETEREE losses on trade receivables,
EERETE deposits and other receivables
MUE - BB MR ETE Impairment loss recognised on
ZREEE property, plant and equipment 18
B AEEERRABERE Impairment loss recognised on
right-of-use assets 18
B EERE Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 18
RIEREER 2 RERBE Impairment loss recognised
on mining right 18
MEER Finance costs 8
BiAl (B518),ER (LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7
FTfile, (i) Income tax credit/(expense) 11
FE (BB, &=F (Loss)/profit for the year
Hit2mE % H OTHER COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSE

*KEHEEF D E R 4

Other comprehensive expense

AMEE L - to be reclassified to profit or
loss in subsequent periods:
BMEBINEBZER Z58 Exchange differences on translation
of foreign operations
FEEMEEZ HNR Other comprehensive expense for the
FRASHE year, net of income tax

—E-=F

2023
TET
HK$'000

263,491
(348,772)

(85,281)
(5,968)

(2,301)
(83,658)
3,992
(188,941)
(5,876)
(2,443)

(6,642)
(48,793)

(425,911)
2,311

(423,600)

(74,077)

(74,077)

—E-__—F
2022
FET
HK$°000

383,899
(337,285)

46,614
7,575
267,382

(3,073)
(126,222)

(104,191)

(58,631)

(1,957)

(942)

(20,923)

5,632
(4,228)

1,404

(160,593)

(160,593)

REBEERAMEZEHBAR(E)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (CONTINUED)

HEZTZZ=F+=-A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

—E_=F T
2023 2022
M F#ET F#ET
Notes HK$’'000 HK$’000
FER2EXHEE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR (497,677) (159,189]
THALTEIEEZE(EE),  [Loss)/profit for the year
a Al attributable to:
RATHEB A Owners of the Company (423,600) 1,404
TIHALTEEFAZE Total comprehensive expenses for
T ABEE - the year attributable to:
RAREAA Owners of the Company (497,677) (159,189)
(B E3)
(Restated)
BRER,(EE) : Earnings/(loss) per share:
- ER NS - basic and diluted (79.43)74L 0.307 11

13 BELESIVERARIRENE HK$0.30 cent

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

HEZZFT-=F+=ZA=+—HLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

REMBARRE(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
BE-_T-=F+=-A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

By et

Notes

FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME - BB MRE Property, plant and equipment 14
EREEE Right-of-use assets 15
BEE Intangible assets 16
PRAEE Mining rights 17
ERBEEMLRR Total non-current assets
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
EA Inventories 19
JEW B 5 B 5% I JE W R4 Trade and bills receivables 20
BRRIE - Ze Rk Prepayments, deposits and
H th fE U 5K I8 other receivables 21
G bl /NCTE O Amount due from an intermediate
holding company 26
JE W 5 3K Tax recoverable
EHEBIRITER Pledged bank deposits 22
Re kEeHEEAR Cash and cash equivalents 22
MENE EARRR Total current assets
REBAE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FEfTE 5B Trade payables 23
Hi BN RIBRETER Other payables and accruals 24
BHEE Contract liabilities 24
fE 3k Borrowings 25
JEAT B R Tax payable
JEfT BRI A R R Amount due to an immediate holding
company 26
MEEBRRE Total current liabilities
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS

EEABERABEE

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES

—E-=F
2023

TET
HK$'000

1,020,495
31,738
13,196
35,871

1,101,300
103,387
3,205
185,724

8,961

39,954

341,231

15,472
25,752
26,477
111,228

5,822
184,751

156,480

1,257,780

—E—_—F
2022
FET
HK$°000

1,337,361
40,629
20,939
46,545

1,445,474
192,274
1,498

190,514

5,117
9,698
28,599

427,700

17,449
23,244
14,598
114,592

2,871
172,754

254,946

1,700,420

R

Notes

FnBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
LA Deferred revenue 27
& Borrowings 25
Al E S Convertible bonds 28
BEERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 29
ERBEEETE Total non-current liabilities
EEFE NET ASSETS
= EQUITY
RATEE ABLER Equity attributable to owners of

the Company
BT Issued capital 30
s Reserves 32
FERAERE TOTAL EQUITY

=

S =&

2023

FET

HK$'000

66,881
223,620
347,170

7,148

644,819

612,961

5,926
607,035

612,961

—s-=
2022
TET
HK$’000

69,354
205,512
320,048

9,554

604,468

1,095,952

3,950
1,092,002

1,095,952
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RETIED - WA TIEFRRETE

AL 3
Mr. Shum Sai Chit
EF

Director
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The consolidated financial statements on pages 56 to 178 were
approved and authorised for issued by the board of directors on

28 March 2024 and are signed on its behalf by:

METRE L £
Ms. Chi Sile

EF

Director

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.
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REEZEDR
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

EZT - =F+=ZA=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

RES Rt B ! BRE  iRRE  SHRE ERE
R EER  SABR (RN § s
Capital

(ati) (W) AR i REEH

Share redemption  Convertible Share  Statutory Merger Exchange
[ssued  premium  Contributed reserve  bonds equity option reserve reserve Other  fluctuation ~ Retained
capital ~account  surplus  [notelill  reseve  reserve [noteliil)  [otelv)  reseve  reserve earnings Total
TEL TERL TEL TEL TEL TERL TERL ThR TR TR TR TR
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000

R-F--F-f-A Asat T January 2022 098439 1562834 2976 419 - 30,34 1188% (1500592 (64,209 (20931) 31986 1188942
EEER Profitfor the year G G G G & S S S = S 1,404 1,404
EREMRERY Other comprehensive

MRHER - expense for the year,

net of income tax:

BERNZBAEEL Exchange differences

EAZE arising from
translations of foreign
aperations - - - - - - - - - (16059 - (105
EE2EGHMA Total comprehensive
iz [expense)fincome for
the year = = = = - - - - - s 1406 [199,189)
RAEH (30 Capital reorganisation
[note 30) [635,147) - 895,147 - - = S = = = - -
ELORE L Issue of shares, net of
REHA ) transacion cost
(note 6] 658 897 = S - - - - - = = 24630
EMaRES () lssue of convertible bonds
[note 6) - - - - 42512 - - - - - - 125
BRATARESEE Deferred tax related
LBIEHE toissuance of
convertible bonds - - - - (6881) - - - - - - (6.361)
BRyERE Share option lapsed - - = = = 59%) = S = - 5% -
BHZEE Transfer to reserve - - - = = S 129 - - - (129 -
RECERNATIRS Equity settled share
based transactions - - - - - 918 - - - - = 918
o As at 31 December 2022
TZA=+-BR and 1 January 203
“E-ZE-R-A 3950 1,991,606 677123 49 3,601 30,646 120,188 [1,500592) (64,2090 (181,524) 30269 1095992
FEER Loss forthe year - - - - - - - - - S Y
EREBRER Other comprehensive
ARAER expense for the
year, net of income tax:
BEBISBHEEL Exchange differences
EXzZE arising from
translations of
foreign operations s . = . . - _ _ - (7407 _ (1407
ERLERRAE Total comprehensive
expense for the year - - - - - - - - - (4010 23800 49T 6TI)
BRRRR - Nk Issue ofrights shares,
REAAMHY) netof transaction cost
[note 6) 1976 12710 - - - - - - - - - 14,686
BRHERE Share option lapsed - - - = = [30,66) = = = - 3064 -
BRERE Transfer to reserves - - - - - = 5 = - - [57) -
RZSZ=E+ZB=1-R  Asat31December 2023 5926 1,604,316 677,123 419 35,651 s 120245 [1,500,592) (64,209 (255,601) 130317 612961
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(ii)

(i)

(iv)

HERBERESEAMBERRRPOREHE
607,035,000/ L (ZF = =4 : 1,092,002,000%
) e

AEAEORFERADBRERDREHRDEHAR
ARBENEHENARRRMNEE -

EERETIEENBLATARTEARKNE(H
B EEMBRRAIAFN10%RBETREE
ERPRENES -

REHEKZHBAR 2 ABREZME KB
REDERBIROER - ZEME R RARE10%2 10K
Frg TR M (2 Bl B A E M B R R i i R )
EREERE  BIFRREERCENBRREM
BEAR50% - ZEBEATANEHEHEARBEFE
2R BAMBRARZ EEEHRIEMNHEAR
ZRA o

RETERRZEEEGEEETEARREMAME
ERBEMGNE TR AEEFRATELHAA
ERRESAREEDRRES - ZFESAHA
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EHFERRAHEARES 2 ERRAA ST
EREAE

REEREHR(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)
BE_TZ=F+=-H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

Notes:

(i) These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$607,035,000 (2022:
HK$1,092,002,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

(i) Capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the Shares of the
Company which was transferred from the Company’s retained earnings upon
repurchase and cancellation of Shares by the Company.

(iii) Statutory reserve mainly represents the fund set aside by the subsidiaries based on
10% of their net profit of the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") statutory financial
statements and that for the purpose of certain safety production activities.

In accordance with the articles of association of the subsidiaries established in the
PRC and the relevant PRC rules and regulations, these subsidiaries are required to
set aside 10% of their profit after income tax as recorded in the PRC statutory financial
statements as statutory reserve, except where the reserve fund balance has reached
50% of the subsidiaries’ registered capital. The reserve fund can only be used to make
good the subsidiaries’ previous years’ losses, to expand the subsidiaries” production
operations or to increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

Pursuant to certain regulations issued by the State Administration of Work Safety of
the PRC and other relevant regulatory bodies, the Group is required to set aside funds
mainly for mining of dolomite and serpentine at prescribed rates. These funds can
be used for maintenance and/or improvements of safety of these activities, and is not
available for distribution to shareholders.

(iv) Merger reserve was arising on the application of merger accounting method in relation
to the combination with entity under common control.
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RERETRER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

HEZZFT-=F+=ZA=+—HLFJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

B =E
Notes
REXBCRERE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
B A (&18), & A (Loss)/profit before tax
HE - Adjustments for:
5 ER Finance costs 8
IR E 2 BIREE R Equity-settled share option
expenses 31
RITALEUA Bank interest income 6
HEYE - WEREMBIEE  Gain on disposal of items of
2 Was property, plant and equipment 6
B EA KR Gain on debt restructuring 6
WEH TR FRIE Written-off of prepayments
WEEYZE - BB KRR Written-off of property, plant and
equipment 7
HME - BERZEERZ  Impairment loss recognised on
BEEBE property, plant and equipment 18
PEREEEER Impairment loss recognised on
WEEE right-of-use assets 18
MBI EERRZREEE  Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 18
IR R B EERE Impairment loss recognised on
mining rights 18
ME - BERBBEZITE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 14
EREEECIE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15
BIVEE 2 #H Amortisation of intangible assets 16
PRUEHE 2 3 Amortisation of mining rights 17
JEWE SRHRTEEEEEIE  (Reversal of)/allowance for expected
(BBRm) B credit loss on trade receivables 20
e REMEWGRIE 2 (Reversal of)/allowance for
EHEEER expected credit loss on deposits
(BBRm) BB and other receivables 21
LEEREHAZ Operating cash flows before changes
KRERERE in working capital
FER D Decrease in inventories

AR R

2

RN IUE - ke RA B
SR 1

S 5 AR G ), /0
R AL RSN A - 3 B AR
ANBEEN (7

Decrease in trade and bill receivables

Increase in prepayments, deposits and
other receivables

(Decreasel/increase in trade payables

Increase/[decrease) in other payables,
accruals and contract liabilities

—E-=F
2023
FET
HK$'000

(425,911)

48,793

(593)

(3,454)

573
188,941
5,876
2,443
6,642
99,625
1,336
4,503
2,416

(3,948)

(44)
(72,802)
83,526

2,156

(1,994)
(1,380)

20,933

—E-__—F
2022
FET
HK$°000

5,632
20,923

918
(600)

(2,280)
(267,382)
28,620
183
58,631
1,957

942

110,144
1,439
1,448

104,173
18

64,766
5,502
37,152

(31,125)
5,266

(40,418)

RERETRER(E)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
HE-_ZT-=%+=-A=+—HLLFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

REXBHB RS
BR/(BR)MEHE

—E-=F

2023

M =E FET
Notes HK$'000

Cash generated from operations 30,439
Income taxes refund/(paid) 5,344

REXBZRERAFER

Net cash flows generated from

REXBCRERE

S A

HEME - BB MRED
FTS500R

BAME - BFER&EER

BAEIRRIT R 2R

operating activities 35,783
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING

ACTIVITIES
Interest received 593
Proceeds from disposal of property,

plant and equipment 4,925

Purchases of items of property, plant
and equipment (28,069)
Decrease in pledged bank deposits 9,698

BREFH 2R ERHIFHR

Net cash flows used in investing

activities (12,853)

MEXBCRERE
ERNFE
BITIRAFSHOR

EEER
IR A B EIRE 2
(230, Rt 2 B3

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
Interest paid (8,474)
Proceed from issuance of

share capital 14,686
Repayment of borrowings (901)
(Repayment from)/advance to current

accounts with holding companies (6,010)

BME RS (FTA) Net cash flows generated from/

WEMmLFEE (used in) financing activities (699)
ReRkReEEERZ NET INCREASE IN CASH AND

12 hnFER CASH EQUIVALENTS 22,231
FzRERHFEEMEIEE  Cash and cash equivalents at

SNEIER B E AR SRR

beginning of year 28,599
Effect of foreign exchange rate
changes, net

(10,876)

FRZAETRBESEHEER

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
END OF YEAR 39,954

BeRhBSSEEB GBI

B MIRTTHEER

ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 22

—s-=
2022
TET
HK$’000

41,143
(13,061
28,082

600

3,403

(5,423)
(1,420)

(429)

(34,621)

13,072
(21,978)

4,684
25,078

(1,163)

28,599

28,599
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consolidated financial statements.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
(the "Company”]) is a limited liability company incorporated
in Bermuda. The principal place of business of the Company
is located at 16th Floor, Tower 5, The Gateway, Harbour City,
Tsim Sha Tsui, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the manufacture
and sale of magnesium products.

In the opinion of the directors, the immediate holding
company of the Company is Ming Xin Developments Limited,
a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands and the
ultimate holding company is Alpha Sino Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars ["HK$"), which is the same as the
functional currency of the Company. All values are rounded
to the nearest thousand (HK$'000) except when otherwise
indicated.

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators

On 3 July 2020, the Company announced (i) Century Sunshine
Group Holding Limited ("CS”), the controlling shareholder of
the Company, defaulted in the redemption of its SGD101.75
million in principal amount of subordinated notes (the
“CS Payment Default”); (i) the Company had received on
30 June 2020 a demand from one of the bank creditors
for the repayment of borrowings of the Company or its
subsidiaries of approximately HK$22.87 million plus interest
accrued and believed it was likely to receive further calls
from its creditors; (iii) the CS Payment Default constituted
an event of default in respect of certain borrowings of the
Group, which became immediately payable on demand;
(iv] a winding-up petition has been filed on 3 July 2020 to
the Supreme Court of Bermuda on behalf of the Company
together with an application for the appointment of joint
provisional liquidators ("JPLs") on a “light touch” basis that
the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) will
retain management of the Company while the JPLs will work
alongside the Company’'s management to, amongst other
things, monitor, supervise and oversee the implementation
of a group-wide holistic and coordinated restructuring of
its debts and liabilities (the “Proposed Restructuring Plan”)
including to maintain the listing of the Company on the Stock
Exchange of the Hong Kong Limited.

RFRREEER @)

R 2FREEREER
A (#)
RZZBE_ZF+LA+E - BRE
e ARBEM —Hw T - BELK
TEVBREER AR ZEERL
ERERERLT  “XERRARZ
Roy Baileyst & LA K& EY Cayman Ltd
ZTammy Karina FuR T AAR R 7
HEBRFEA  URTEXKFR
BRIzEHN -R-_T-_FTFN\AL
H BREEZREXBERSTE
Z BHE - MABBRoy Baileyft & -
Tammy Karina Fuzl & + R&EREX
TERARBRFEANEETSE
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E-Z-=F+=RA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

On 16 July 2020, an order was granted by the Supreme Court
of Bermuda for the appointment of Mr. Yen Ching Wai David
and Ms. So Kit Yee Anita of Ernst & Young Transactions
Limited, Mr. Roy Bailey of Ernst & Young, and Ms. Tammy
Karina Fu of EY Cayman Ltd as JPLs of the Company with
the power to act jointly and severally. On 7 August 2020, the
Bermuda Court accepted the resignation of Mr. Yen Ching
Wai David. The JPLs appointment order remains in force in
respect of Mr. Roy Bailey, Ms. Tammy Karina Fu and Ms. So
Kit Yee Anita as JPLs.

On 25 August 2020, the High Court of The Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region has granted the recognition order in
respect of the appointment and powers of the JPLs in Hong
Kong.
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)

Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

On 25 February 2021, the Company received a petition (the
“Petition”) filed by Al Global Investment SPC acting on
behalf of and for the account of Al Investment Fund S.P. (the
“Petitioner”) on 22 February 2021 against the Company in the
High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
(the “Court”) for an order that the Company be wound up by
the Court. The Petition was filed against the Company for
its failure to repay the Petitioner an outstanding principal
of the Notes (as defined below) together with the unpaid
interest and default interest in an aggregate amount of
US$20,707,777.78, which was pursuant to a subscription
agreement of 7% unsubordinated and unsecured notes due
2020 in a principal amount of US$20,000,000 (the "Notes”)
entered into between the Petitioner as subscriber and the
Company as the issuer dated 7 August 2017. The hearing of
the Petition has been adjourned to be heard together with
sanction hearing for the creditors’ scheme and presently
fixed for 27 May 2022.

The Company proposed a scheme of arrangement to the
related scheme creditors (“the Creditors” Scheme”) on 18
January 2022 and the Creditors” Scheme was approved by
the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme creditors
on 1 March 2022 and was approved by the High Court of
Hong Kong on 27 May 2022. The Creditors” Scheme became
effective on 31 May 2022. Since then, the Company had made
the application to the Supreme Court of Bermuda for the
withdrawal of the Bermuda Petition and the discharge of the
appointment of joint provisional liquidators. On 8 October
2022, the Company has received the discharge order dated
15 August 2022 granted by the Bermuda Court.
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E-Z-=F+=RA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (continued)
Discharge of winding-up petitions and appointment of provisional
liquidators (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

i/
itk
meny
Place of
incorporation/
£ registration
Name and business
HERAZHRARAA RE
(#rE))
Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium The PRC
Products Company Limited
(*Xinjiang Tengxiang’)
ALFAZ L BEER hEl
BRAA

Baishan City Tianan Magnesium The PRC
Resources Company Limited

HER IR EARAR HE
Xinjiang Rare Magnesium New
Material Technology Co. Ltd The PRC

PEBEHRERARLA 3
China Rare Earth Magnesium Hong Kong
Technology Holdings Limited

BRI HERRABRAT 3
Hong Kong New Materials Industry  Hong Kong
Investments Limited

aftEAEE

Nominal value

share/registered capital

RMB1,000,000

8
BRTEER/ RAE
KAAREREZEDR il
Percentage of equity Proportion
of issued ordinary attributable to ofvoting FEXH
the Company power held  Principal activities
E# it
Direct ndirect
ARE171,800,0007 - 100 0% HERHESE
FREER
RMB171,800,000 Manufacture and trading
of magnesium related
products
AR 280,332,000 - 100 0% HERHESE
BREER
RMB280,332,000 Manufacturing and trading
of magnesium
related products
AFRH1,000,0007 - 100 0% RERHELR
BREER
Manufacturing and trading
of magnesium
related products
- 100 00% SERR
Investment holdings
- 100 100% RABR

Investment holdings

ERFINEZRRYAEEH Z NF
EXEREAFEIMERAEEE
EFEZIREN 2 ARANB R
Al BEERA  REEMBKE QR
ZHBHERERBNRITE

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in
the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current
year

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time,
the following new and amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs"] issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants ["HKICPA"]) which
are effective for the Group’'s financial year beginning on 1
January 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and
February 2022
amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKAS
1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Insurance Contracts

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform
Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on
the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 - Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement
2 Making Materiality Judgements provide guidance and
examples to help entities apply materiality judgements to
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help
entities provide accounting policy disclosures that are more
useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose
their ‘significant” accounting policies with a requirement
to disclose their ‘material” accounting policies and adding
guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in
making decisions about accounting policy disclosures.

The application of the amendments has had no material
impact on the Group's financial performance and positions,
but has affected the disclosures of accounting policies as set
out in note 3.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 8 - Definition of
Accounting Estimates

The amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates, and changes in accounting
policies and the correction of errors. They also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs to develop
accounting estimates.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 12 - Deferred Tax
related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets so that it no longer applies to transactions
that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning liabilities. Therefore, entities are required
to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient
taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax liability for
temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments shall be applied to transactions related to
leases and decommissioning obligations at the beginning
of the earliest comparative period presented, with any
cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the
opening balance of retained earnings or other component of
equity as appropriate at that date. For all other transactions,
the amendments are applied to those transactions that
occur after the beginning of the earliest period presented.

The Group previously applied HKAS 12 requirements to
the relevant assets and liabilities as a whole. Temporary
differences relating to relevant assets and liabilities
are assessed on a net basis. Upon application of the
amendments, the Group has recognised a separate deferred
tax asset and a deferred tax liability for all deductible and
taxable temporary differences associated with the right-of-
use assets and the lease liabilities.

The amendments has no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current and
the related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5
(2020) Presentation of
Financial Statements—
Classification by the
Borrower of a Term Loan
that contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause'

Non-current Liabilities with

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Covenants'
Amendments to HKAS 7 and  Supplier Finance
HKFRS 7 Arrangements’

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
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APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)”) (continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
[continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs, issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”] and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
("CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
on the historical cost basis. Historical cost is generally based
on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for
assets.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of approving
the consolidated financial statements, a reasonable
expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern
basis of accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of Preparation (continued)

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payments, leasing transactions that are within the scope of
HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to
fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value
in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment
of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

J Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

J Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The material accounting policies are set out below.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities (including
structured entities) controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

e has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the
Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income
and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during
the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income from the date the
Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income
of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to being their accounting policies
into line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity],
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the investee [i.e. existing rights that give the Group
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the
investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a)] The contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee:

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s
profit or loss to the extent of dividends received and
receivables. The Company's investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less any impairment.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and assets which
includes an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.
The acquired processes are considered substantive if they
are critical to the ability to continue producing outputs,
including an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related processes
or they significantly contribute to the ability to continue
producing outputs and are considered unique or scarce or
cannot be replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay
in the ability to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values
of the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred
by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally
recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:

° deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or
liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS
12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits
respectively;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment at the acquisition date (see the
accounting policy below);

e assets [or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are
measured in accordance with that standard; and
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
Business combinations /(continued)

J lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the
present value of the remaining lease payments (as
defined in HKFRS 16) as if the acquired leases were
new leases at the acquisition date, except for leases
for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months
of the acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is
of low value. Right-of-use assets are recognised and
measured at the same amount as the relevant lease
liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-
controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if
any) over the net amount of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess
is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership
interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the event
of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling
interests” proportionate share of the recognised amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes a contingent consideration
arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured
at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination.
Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration
that qualify as measurement period adjustments are
adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period adjustments
are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the "measurement period” [which cannot
exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
Business combinations (continued)

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration
that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments
depends on how the contingent consideration is classified.
Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a
liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting
dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised
in profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the
Group's previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the
date when the Group obtains control), and the resulting
gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising
from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date
that have previously been recognised in other comprehensive
income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be accounted
for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposed directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during the
measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a b-step approach to revenue recognition:

e  StepI: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

e Step2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

J Step 3: Determine the transaction price

J Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

e Stepb: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

J the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

e the Group's performance creates and enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

e the Group's performance does not create an asset
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract asset represents the Group’'s right to
consideration in exchange for goods or services that
the Group has transferred to a customer that is not yet
unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance
with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only
the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to a contract
are accounted for an presented on a net basis.

Revenue from the processing and sales of magnesium
products is recognised at a point in time when control of the
products has transferred, being at the point the products are
delivered to the customer and the customer has accepted
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could
affect the customer’s acceptance of the products. Delivery
occurs when the products have been shipped to the specified
location, the risks of obsolescence and loss have been
transferred to the customer, and either the customer has
accepted the products in accordance with the sales contract,
the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or the Group has
objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance have been
satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of discounts, returns and value
added taxes.

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered
and the customers accept the products, as this is the point
in time that the consideration is unconditional because only
the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

BEARETBERER®
BFR

BRESTTHR  AEALEER
B ANEE T BT BB
B ARSMERRE  FER

=7
)

BT R T AN SR B R ) A B X
th (PR R i 188 5% AT T 45 S R AN 19 32
H)BEZE RGN EERER T
R ABME  AEBRAEERE
B RAERWEIFRDEESTE
fER 1 B9 B BER D IR 4R B B B AROR
BREDDELWA - TRHEBEE
ENTRAEFHAERRGERAE
fEEEERERED -

o

fidf B2 U A AE B B 2 U 38 5K R TR
WkIE - (EREELNF X HER
FME  RERHRTAKREMLEN
B8 R SRR A BB B 7% 32 45+ RO AX
REWKRIAE BRINERER - B
[68 13 SR [ 5L L Ui 2 2% 5 48U #R | TR
DE2IE

RERMHEMNEA B ZBRFERZ
MG RBAT R RAFWEE
FOREIZRITMISEMNEAEERZ
NABEZREHERETE ©

M -~ BENRE

ME - BELRERBIELEESM
EEMHRT - KITHABHET
BE(ERZTIRERINZAARER
REHrERRHRERBERE -

RABEREEEZDENREE
EEREN T ARREEMLERN
28 MR M B & E 4 R K
Ko R(REEBEEMS)REAN
SEEERENEOEEMAR -
HEEEAEMNEEENHERE
% BEENHRTEMAEKFASG
RITE -

S 7% s R Y o ()
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(2 F _=F+ A =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Government Grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate. Specifically, government
grants whose primary condition is that the Group should
purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated
statement of financial position and transferred to profit or
loss on a systematic and rational basis over the useful lives
of the related assets.

Government grants related to income that become
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other
gains or losses, net”.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market rate of
interest is treated as a government grant, measured as the
difference between proceeds received and the fair value of
the loan based on prevailing market interest rates.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment, are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes (other than construction in
progress), are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the
asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by management
and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in
accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their intended
use.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment and depreciation (continued)

Construction in progress includes property, plant and
equipment in the course of construction for production or
for its own use purposes. Construction in progress is carried
at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of
property, plant and equipment when completed and ready
for intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same
basis as other property assets, commences when the assets
are ready for their intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between the
leasehold land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted
for as an operating lease is presented as “right-of-use
assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position.
When the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided interest
in the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the item] is included in profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal
annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
lease terms or 3%

Leasehold land and buildings

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6% to 25%

Plant and machinery 10% to 25%

Motor vehicles 15% to 25%
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Property, Plant and Equipment and depreciation /(continued)

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a
prospective basis.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from
business combinations on or after the date of initial
application, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless
the terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components, including contract for acquisition
of ownership interests of a property which includes both
leasehold land and non-lease building components, unless
such allocation cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-
lease components from lease component, and instead
account for the lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee (continued)

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of machinery and equipment that have
a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement
date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies the
recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease
payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis or
another systematic basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

o any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

e an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are
incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Leases (continued)
The Group as a lessee [continued)

Right-of-use assets (continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain
to obtain ownership of the underlying leased assets at the
end of the lease term are depreciated from commencement
date to the end of the useful life. Straight-line basis over the
shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not
included in the measurement of the lease liability and the
right-of-use asset. The related payments are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or condition
that triggers those payments occurs and are included in
“Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the Group obtains ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term upon exercising purchase
options, the cost of the relevant right-of-use assets and the
related accumulated depreciation and impairment loss are
transferred to property, plant and equipment.
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BEXETBRER @) 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued) BEARETBERER® MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
*ﬂ%(@) Leases (continued) *ﬂg(@) Leases (continued)

TEEEREAEA®E) The Group as a lessee [continued) KEBIERAMEAE The Group as a lessee [continued)

HEAR Lease liabilities HEEE#E) Lease liabilities (continued)
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At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
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The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a
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the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease
liability comprise:

fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

e variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date;

e the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under
residual value guarantees;

e the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to
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e the lease term has changed or there is a change in
the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the date of reassessment.

e the lease payments change due to changes in market
rental rates following a market rent review/expected
payment under a guaranteed residual value, in which
cases the related lease liability is remeasured by
discounting the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by

e terminate the lease. IALEBEENEMNEEE adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
, s HEIEKN ;- K& and
REBEHE®  HEaEWEF After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
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by interest accretion and lease payments.
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e the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for
the increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments
to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances
of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting
the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate at
the effective date of the modification.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
Leases (continued)

Lease modifications (continued)

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset. When the modified contract
contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease payments as a result of
interest rate benchmark reform

For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using
the unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease
modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform
if, and only if, both of these conditions are met:

e the modification is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform: and

e  the new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).

Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination
are recognised separately from goodwill and are initially
recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is
regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets with
finite useful lives are carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is
provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Intangible Assets (continued)
Intangible Assets Acquired in a Business Combination (continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal.
Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an intangible
asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

Patent

Expenditure on acquired patent is capitalised and amortised
using the straight-line method over its estimated useful life
of 9 to 16 years, from the date when the patent is available
for use.

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining rights and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, mining rights and intangible assets with finite
useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that
these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant
asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use
are tested for impairment at least annually, and whenever
there is an indication that they may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, mining rights, and intangible assets are
estimated individually. When it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, the Group estimates
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
the asset belongs.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash generating units for which a reasonable
and consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the
corporate asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying
amount of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
to disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a post-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for
which the estimates of future cash flows have not been
adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset [or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit] is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets
or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating
unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of
cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first
to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable)
and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group
of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset
is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
to disposal (if measurable), its value in use [if determinable]
and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated
pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

BEXETHERER 2

ME  BERRE  EHESE
E REEREFLEE(HE
BRIN) BB (&)

MREEIBR G BE - RIS E (3
BeELBEMRSELEMNMAR)
MBS E A e INE LB TG st
A M) 58 - S 00 18 0 AR TR £ T
BREEBSBEFEETERZEE
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁi SRR G EE B AL
4B T A S R0 R 18 0
HE o AR BEE RN IBEE

D7Ju°

PRIERE

SRR R R 2 MR R A
B ARG R R AR
EBBRIE  REEREERR
DU S R 40 6 2 (R 58 o R L
WEER - AFBEEIESRT S
# e

it

REAEBETSERN TR
WRE - UZERBOIEEE AN
B ONE)ETHR ZER S A H
MIERNEIDNGEEE (BIZERLS
E¥BHEITECERENEK)T
/EE °

REREHR - UM ET 0 G
HERZENERSBHME o LA
%EHEILA/A/LME%?IJEEZ#EEéEIE
RO BEEEEE BZERLE
Eﬁéﬁﬁﬁ  BERARAINEEE
HFEHIEETEEHNRE -

B

Bt 1 3R R M = (&)
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
E-Z-=F+=RA=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets,
mining right and intangible assets other than goodwill (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of
an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Mining Rights

Mining rights, including transferred exploration and
evaluation assets, are stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any impairment losses. The mining rights
are amortised on the production quantities over the total
estimated mineral reserve. Mining rights are written off to
the profit or loss if the mining property is abandoned.

Foreign Currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recorded in the functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates)
at the rates of exchange prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency
are not retranslated.
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Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Foreign Currencies (continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value, are included in profit or
loss for the period.

For the purposes of presenting consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Group (i.e. HK$) at the rates of exchange prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if
any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity (i.e. the translation reserve] (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of
the Group’'s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of joint
control over jointly controlled entity that includes a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence
over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are
reclassified to profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to
the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

Retirement Benefit Costs

Pension Schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for all of its employees. Contributions are made
based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries
and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets
of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the
Group in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate
in Mainland China are required to participate in a
central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. These subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central
pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the central pension scheme.

Payments to defined contribution retirement plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered
service entitling them to the contributions.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Share-based payments
Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and
others providing similar services are measured at the fair
value of the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into
consideration all non-market vesting conditions is expensed
on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant non-
market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such
that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate,
with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to
share premium. When the share options are forfeited after
the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date,
the amount previously recognised in share option reserve
will be transferred to retained profits.
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(2 F _=F+ A =+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(a] cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand
deposits, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible to a known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash
equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or
other purposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group's cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income because it excludes items of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years,
and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in
the financial statements and the corresponding tax base
used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised
for all deductible temporary difference to the extent that is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary
difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition
(other than in a business combination) of other assets and
liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will
be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which liability
is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred
tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the
carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences on initial
recognition of the relevant right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities are not recognised due to application of the initial
recognition exemption. Temporary differences arising from
subsequent revision to the carrying amounts of right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, resulting from remeasurement
of lease liabilities and lease modifications, that are not
subject to initial recognition exemption are recognised on
the date of remeasurement or modification.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. In the case of work in progress and finished goods,
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of overheads. Cost is calculated using the
weighted average method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated
costs of completion and costs necessary to make sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases or
sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or
convention in the market place.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables arising
from contracts with customers which are initially measured
in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts] through
the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured
in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value,
depending on the classification of the financial assets.
Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income ["FVTOCI"), and fair
value through profit or loss ["FVTPL").
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets [continued)

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’'s business model for
managing them.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income:

e the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both selling and
collecting contractual cash flows; and

e the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at initial recognition of a financial asset
the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in fair value of an equity investment in other
comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither
held for trading nor contingent consideration recognised by
an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
Business Combinations applies.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued]

A financial asset is held for trading if:

(i)

it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group
manages together and has a recent actual pattern of
short-term profit-taking; or

it is a derivative that is not designated and effective
as a hedging instrument. In addition, the Group
may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are
required to be measured at the amortised cost or
FVTOCI as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

All recognised financial assets are subsequently
measured in their entirety at either amortised cost
or fair value, depending on the classification of the
financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at
initial recognition, as subsequently measured at
amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual
cash flow characteristics and the Group’s business
model for managing them.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (continued)]

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income [continued)

(i)

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the
next reporting period. If the credit risk on the credit-
impaired financial instrument improves so that the
financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer credit
impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated
as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit loss ("ECL") on financial assets which are subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL
is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of the
relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL ("12m ECL")
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been
a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
in which case, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised
is based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 (continued)]

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the
risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making this
assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without
undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

e  an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor, or the length of time or the extent
to which the fair value of a financial asset has
been less the then its amortised cost;

e  existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)
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Significant increase in credit risk [continued)

e an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the operating results of the debtor;

e an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)]

(i)

Definition of default

(iii)

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full [without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a
more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-
impaired includes observable data about the following
events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s]) that the lender(s]) would not
otherwise consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;
or

(e} the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)

(iv] Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

(v] Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL
reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default
occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 [continued)]

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL [continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

° Past-due status;

° Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

o External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management
to ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception for trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)]
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.
If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control
the transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained
interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts
it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group continues to recognise the financial asset
and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the
proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)
Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance
of the contractual arrangements and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all
of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company
are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Repurchase of the Company’'s own equity instruments is
recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss
is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at
FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables
and accruals, lease liabilities, borrowings and amount due
to an immediate holding company.

Convertible note

The component parts of the convertible note are classified
separately as financial liability and equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the
definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.
A conversion option that will be settled by the exchange of
a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s own equity instruments is an
equity instrument.
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3. EXRGFHERER® 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued) 3. EARGFHEERER® 3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION /continued)
EMTE@® Financial instruments (continued) AEALTRS Related Parties Transactions
TRIBERERE Financial liabilities and equity (continued) ETHNERT  BERAALTEEER A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
HEASEEGHE
ARBREREE) Convertible note (continued)
(1) feiEBA T AL BIZ AT 3% (1) A person or a close member of that person’s family is
RETHH  BEMBINIRET At the date of issue, the fair value of the liability component ALtZERBBEAESERHA related to the Group if that person:
FRTTEVEMEBAERITSHEM is estimated by measuring the fair value of similar liability &
BENAAEELMGEE - that does not have an associated equity component.
) PEHskEEHARE (i) has control or joint control over the Group;
DERERNEBRERETE B A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
REEES TANRTENRERD deducting the amount of the liability component from the i) HAEEBEATE : =X (i) has significant influence over the Group; or
DEEMETE - WD ERR fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
ABRGIRAEHREE) - MERKT is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax lii) /AAEEFANEET QA (i) is a member of the key management personnel of
TEHE o b - /\*EETE 5 HY effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the WEREREKE - the Group or of a parent of the Group.
EREEESRENERT BEZE conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
i?‘%%ﬁé 11 MEWBERLT until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the = or
RERTPHERNEREERERSD balance recognised in equity will be transferred to share
HER - MEREEENATRRKRE premium. Where the conversion option remains unexercised (2) RS I EREYE - BIEE (2) The party is an entity where any of the following
BRHAMARETE AR ERFR at the maturity date of the convertible note, the balance ATRER condition applies:
ﬁu/b\m:\D%ﬂﬁLTﬁi%Q+Eﬁ%§ o B recognised in equity will be transferred to accumulated
PR ZRERARNNI BRI losses. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon ) ZERBEARFBR % (i} the entity and the Group are members of the same
BRI R EE - conversion or expiration of the conversion option. Bz B AT group;
BRABTARREBRNRZZHAT) Transaction costs relating to the issuance of the convertible i) —FAEBAS BEBHEK (i} one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
?;zﬁﬁ??rﬁ(l@ﬁ@%ﬁﬂﬁ > B bt Bl 9 B &= note are allocated to the liability and equity components ERAEAERA (NS other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
BELRERES  BHEERITSH in proportion to the allocation of the gross proceeds. —ERBNERE - WEBA subsidiary of the other entity);
X%EZ$E%<EA%\ PR - B Transaction cost relating to the equity component are GEAEELI=PNG)
BEBINRIKNATABETS charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to the
BIEETEI(E - 303 T AR = e ER R liability component are included in the carrying amount of i) ZEREAEEGRE— (i) the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
NIRBEBR M RIEE I - the liability portion and amortised over the period of the F=ITHEERTA same third party;
convertible notes using the effective interest method.
(iv] —FAEBRE=7TEBHN (iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
KIEEIAETHEE Derecognition of financial liabilities BERE MA—EBR the other entity is an associate of the third entity;
ZE=ZTEBHNEBEZEAQ
EREEZEEMTEREIT  BUEZE The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only A
}ﬁﬁ-r CAEETERILEREHE when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
B ° fﬂﬂ:ﬁﬁwﬁﬁivﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁéﬁi have expired. The difference between the carrying amount V)] BERATNEEEREH (v] the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
ENEENRKENEZRNERRE of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration FAEEBMEENR the benefit of employees of either the Group or an
e paid and payable is recognised in profit or loss. R BERCRE A ET S o fi entity related to the Group. If the Group is itself
REBXRFELZ:TE such a plan, the sponsoring employers of the
AR BERL AR N 5t 8 0 12 £ post-employment benefit plan;
BEBHET
il ERX(FTHEAIALTES (vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
g % HRIFEH person identified in (1);
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ZE - =F+=A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)

Related Parties Transactions (continued)

(2) The party is an entity where any of the following
condition applies: (continued]

(vi) a person identified in (1](i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); or

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or be
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity
and include:

(a) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(b) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner;

and

(c) dependants of that person or that person’s spouse or
domestic partner.

A transaction is considered to be a related party transaction
when there is a transfer of resources or obligations between
related parties.
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (continued)
Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment
item reported in the consolidated financial statements, are
identified from the financial information provided regularly
to the Group’s most senior executive management for the
purposes of allocating resources to, and assessing the
performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and
geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated
for financial reporting purposes unless the segments
have similar economic characteristics and are similar in
respect of the nature of products and services, the nature
of production processes, the type or class of customers,
the methods used to distribute the products or provide the
services, and the nature of the regulatory environment.
Operating segments which are not individually material may
be aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies which
are described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimation (see below], that the director of the
Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements.

(a)  Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Right-of-use
assets, Intangible assets and Mining Rights

The Group evaluates whether property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
mining right with finite useful lives have suffered any
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not
be recoverable, in accordance with the accounting policy
stated in Note 3. The recoverable amounts of the Group's
CGUs represent the higher of the asset’s fair value less
costs to disposal or its value-in-use. The calculations of
fair value less costs to disposal or value-in-use require
the use of estimates and assumptions. Changing the
assumptions and estimates, including the discount rates
or the future revenue in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts. As at 31
December 2023, the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets and
mining rights subject to impairment assessment were
approximately HK$1,020,495,000(2022: HK$1,337,361,000),
HK31,738,000 (2022: HK$40,629,000), HK$13,196,000
(2022: HK$20,939,000) and HK$35,781,000 (2022:
HK$46,545,000) respectively after taking into account the
impairment losses of approximately HK$188,941,000 (2022:
HK$58,631,000), HK$5,876,000 (2022: HK$1,957,000],
HK$2,443,000 (2022: HK$942,000) and HK$6,642,000 (2022:
HK$nil in respect of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights that
have been recognised respectively.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty /(continued)

(a)

(b)

Estimated Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment, Right-of-use
Assets, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights /(continued)

Details of the impairment assessment of property,
plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible
assets and mining rights are disclosed in note 18.

Estimated Useful Lives of Right-of-use Assets, Property, Plant and
Equipment, Intangible Assets and Mining Rights

The Group’s management determines the estimated
useful lives and related depreciation/amortisation
charges for its right-of-use assets, property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets and mining rights.
This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of right-of-use assets,
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets of
similar nature and functions and the mineral reserve
determined by independent technical adviser. It could
change significantly as a result of technical innovations
and competitor actions in response to market
conditions. Management will increase the depreciation/
amortisation charge where useful lives are less than
previously estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-
down technically obsolete or nonstrategic assets that
have been abandoned or sold.

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
the Group did not change the estimated useful lives
of right-of-use assets, property, plant and equipment,
intangible assets and mining rights.
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CRITICALACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty /continued)

(c)

Provision for Expected Credit Losses on Trade Receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs
for trade receivables. The provision rates are based
on days past due for groupings of various customer
segments that have similar loss patterns [i.e., by
geography, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit and other forms of credit
insurance).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will
calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss
experience with forward-looking information. For
instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e., gross
domestic products] are expected to deteriorate over
the next year which can lead to an increased number
of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the historical
default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may
also not be representative of customer’s actual default
in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in notes 20 and
40 to the financial statements.
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5. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported internally to the chief operating
decision makers for the purpose of resource allocation
and assessment of segment performance focuses on types
of goods or services delivered or provided. The Group
is principally engaged in one single segment, which is
manufacturing and selling magnesium related products
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. A single
management team reports to the chief operating decision
makers who comprehensively manages such entire business
segment. Accordingly, the Group does not have separately
reportable segments.

Geographical information

(a)  Revenue from external customers

B (FERIN

2023 2022
FiEx FiER
HK$°000 HK$°000
Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 383,899

FRBABRREFPAELE
5l o

b) FERBEE

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b)  Non-current assets

B (F BRI

TECCSF |t ——
2023 2022
TiEx FiER
HK$'000 HK$'000
Mainland China
(other than Hong Kong) 1,445,474

tRERBEEBERIZEERM
EHZ7 -

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets.
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EBoEER® 5.
FEXFEHR
NAFERE-FP 2 HEHAE

B 10%R A £ AT :

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Information about major customers

Sales to a single customer contributed 10% or more of the
Group's revenue during the year is as bellows:

ZEA Customer A
=FB Customer B

—E_=F —E-—F
2023 2022
TFET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000

44,732 74,853
43,738 A N/A

B EXFIHEEEI)N  MEEAMARS
HAEBFRNBRWABTR10%K A
J:O

WA - HtlizmsisiE - F 6.
EREBEA WS

WA - E SR - FEAN
o

Except disclosed above, no other customers contributed 10%
or more to the Group's total revenue for the year.

REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT
RESTRUCTURING

An analysis of revenue and other gains or losses, net is as
follows:

—E_F
2022
TET
HK$°000
RE — R B R Revenue from contract with
REEFEHNZKA customer recognised at a point in time
HEETBHEEER Sale of magnesium related products 263,491 383,899
H b s ok E5 18 5 58 Other gains or losses, net
|ITHE A Bank interest income 593 600
SHERER Sales of scrap materials 621 656
HEREBRME BB Loss on disposal of idled raw materials (13,701) 1,215
HEWE - WEREEZWE  Gain on disposal of property, plant
and equipment KRATA 2,280
HEWA Rental income 5,582 4,010
HAi Others (2,517) (1,186)
(5,968) 7,575

FTERAGHFER—FHUAT
MBS EREERNFISFNER
BEAHA  WERBESEERE
TR ZEE -

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

All revenue contracts are for one year or less. As permitted
by practical expedient under HKFRS 13, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT
RESTRUCTURING (continued)

Gain on debt restructuring

The Group's creditors’ scheme (“Creditors” Scheme”) was
approved by the requisite statutory majorities of the scheme
creditors at the meeting of Creditors” Schemes held on 1
March 2022. The Creditors’ Scheme was also sanctioned by
the High Court of Hong Kong on 27 May 2022. Since then, the
Creditors” Scheme became effective on 31 May 2022.

As at 25 July 2022, the scheme administrators have received
the preference indication forms from all scheme creditors
and the admitted claims have been allocated in the following
manner:

Under the terms of the 5 years term extension option ["Option
A"), full repayment of admitted claims will be made to the
Option A creditors and the repayment date will be extended
for a period of five years beginning from the effective date on
31 May 2022. As part of the Creditors’ Scheme, the Company
issued 65,843,900 new ordinary shares ("Scheme Shares”)
of which HK$29,630,000 being approximately 20% of the
currently issued shares of the Company in July 2022 for the
term extension interest and term extension potential extra
payment, will be issued to the scheme administrator to be
held on behalf of the Option A Creditors. The term extension
interest will be paid to each Option A Creditor by the Scheme
Company on an annual basis or;.

Under the terms of convertible bonds swap option ("Option
BJ, the Company issued convertible bonds in the fair value
of approximately HK$352,175,000. The latter offers the
conversion of admitted claims into convertible Bonds with a
maturity date of the fifth anniversary of the scheme effective
date.
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6. WA > Httlim=mEE - F 6.

EREBREARE @
BEREA N E

BIBEEAE  AaE(BREFTEE
BERAE K& FEETF)B)49847,781,000
BT ERBRIPEETERAFH
REZEENITBRRKRESFSRESE
BBt BE_ZT-__F+_H
—t+t—BUHFERREHEEHRKZE

REVENUE, OTHER GAINS OR LOSSES, NET AND GAIN ON DEBT
RESTRUCTURING (continued)

Gain on debt restructuring (continued)

Pursuant to the Creditors” Scheme, the liabilities, including
the principals and accrued interests of the scheme debts,
amounted to approximately HK$847,781,000 have been
discharged and allocated into a 5-year term extension option
or a convertible bonds swap option. Accordingly, a gain on
debt restructuring of approximately HK$267,382,000 has

120

#9267,382,000/%& 7T °

HE— A HFBBEL2HARREHAC
E-_FRA=ZAR_E__F+
AZ+"HHAE -

been recognized for the year ended 31 December 2022.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the
Company dated 3 May 2022 and 26 July 2022.

BLAT (E1R) A
AEE Y B (BR)EFE M

B
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BT -=F+="A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

The Group's (loss)/profit before tax is arrived at after

FHET
HK$'000
ERBEEATTEEEN Asset transferred pursuant to the
BE Creditors’ Scheme:
A% Scheme Shares (29,630)
EIRBEEAGTE Liabilities assumed pursuant to the
AENEE Creditors’ Scheme:
AR ES - BEE S (FiTFE28) Convertible bonds — Liability components
(Note 28) (309,663)
IR B - #Ewm E ) (MH5E28) Convertible bonds — Equity components (Note 28] (42,512)
&R (B 5E25) Borrowings (Note 25) (198,594)
(550,769)
ERBEEREAGE Liabilities discharged pursuant to the
i 3E S ON=Ri= g Creditors’ Scheme:
A R~ kI8 & e AT B A (5 24) Other payables and accrued expenses (Note 24) 77,203
JE A~ — 28 I SR A (B 5 26) Amount due to a shareholder (Note 24) 50,159
&R (M 5E25) Borrowings (Note 25) 720,419
847,781
(EUEREN S Gain on debt restructuring 267,382

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

BRGE A ToIEE - charging/(crediting):
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
hEFERAY Cost of inventories sold* 268,052 252,536
ME -~ BB MRETTE Depreciation of property,
plant and equipment*# 99,625 110,144
ME - BE &R EME Written-off of property, plant
and equipment* 573 183
NS E 2 B E A Equity-settled share option expenses = 918
EREEERE: Depreciation of right-of-use assets* 1,336 1,439
HEYE - WEREE WS Gain on disposal of property,
plant and equipment (3,454) (2,280)
ME - BB MREBHERZ Impairment loss recognised on property,
B E TR plant and equipment 188,941 58,631
EREEERRRERE Impairment loss recognised on
right-of-use assets 5,876 1,957
BILEERRZBEEE Impairment loss recognised on
intangible assets 2,443 942
PRUE R 5 Amortisation of mining rights* 2,416 -
RIEEERRERR Impairment loss recognised on mining
right 6,642 -
WsHTRE N FRIE Written-off of prepayment = 28,620
| A ERE Amortisation of intangible assets* 4,503 1,448
ZERD BN & * Auditors’ remuneration* 800 1,000
& B &M < Employee benefit expense
(BREZEZHH) (including directors’ remuneration)
TR HekEWEHN Wages and salaries and benefits in kind 31,580 37,402
RIRET B Pension scheme contributions A 783
32,371 38,185
PEH =% - JFEar Foreign exchange differences, net* 2,786 4,412
JEWE 5 BR 5/ 78 BA (Reversal of]/allowance for expected
EEEEEERR),BE credit loss on trade receivables (3,948) 104,173
H At & WK IE 2 (Reversal of]/allowance for
BHEEER expected credit loss
(BB HE) /Bt on other receivables (44) 18

! FAGEEEREMEEBRARZIEER
S

* SPAGERBEREMEEBARZTTE
all

Included in "Cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

Included in "Administrative expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income
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8. FMBEH 8.  FINANCE COSTS 9. EEME@ 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)
() FESHM = (a) Directors’ Emoluments (continued)
—E-=F —F==F BE-_TE-_—_F+-HA=+— The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31
2023 2022 HIEFEEESF 2HMETI I December 2022 are set below:
TR TET T
HK$’000 HK$'000
BERRFERNEHEZEZIRITR  Interest on bank and other borrowings ‘ BiKE
H b ERF B wholly repayable within five years 3,620 we e ERE HE 5 &t
& TgkufgﬂTfﬁrAﬂﬁ‘?iW%J Effective interest expenses on Pension
F borrowings under the Creditors’ Share scheme
Scheme 6,918 Fees Salaries options contribution Total
EREAGTEI TR ESHE  Effective interest expenses on TERL TER TARL TARL TERL
R B X convertible bonds under the HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Creditor's Scheme 10,385 _
WiTES Executive directors
20,923 it Shum Sai Chit 600 - 134 - 734
NES Chi Sile 600 - - 45 645
9. EEME 9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION BUFHITES Independent d
. . , non-executive directors
(a) EEH N (a) Directors’ Emoluments BiF% Kwong Ping Man 20 . 2 _ 5
BE T _=—F+_-_A=+— The emoluments of each director for the year ended 31 REK Cheung Sound Poon 30 - 2 - 52
HIEFEEES 2HMEYI N December 2023 are set below: bl Kwan Ngai Kit!" 15 S 1 - 2
N Ml g2 Lin Pengxuan 8 - S S 8
. 1,283 - 189 45 1517
‘ ke
fag i RiRE E-L%Gi‘ﬂ 8 il RZBZZFA=Z++EBRE n retired on 27 June 2022
ension
Share scheme g RZBZZFNA-+BHEZE 12) appointed on 20 September 2022
Fees Salaries options contribution Total
THx TBx FHET FHET FHET HEZT-_=Fk=-F=-_— During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 TZA=T—HLFE - && no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
- o EfimRANEEERES M directors of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
WIEE Executive directors EAME  AFEEMARE joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.
HER Shum Sai Chit Bk MAKEE - BB
UEES Chi Sile R o
BUFHITES Independent \ 5 \
noFr)l-executivedirectors RAFERN WEREEFFUME There was no arrangement under which a director
B Kwong Ping Man MM EXEBRETAMNE 2 waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
@Efé\$ Cheung Sound Poon ﬁgk(— = __£|E E) year (2022: nil).
i Lin Pengxuan®?
Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited BEREEZERBER AR
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10. REFHFMAL 10.
AEEFNTFHESHREES S
EME(CE-_—_F MRA)ES
HE M BN L XHE9 - Flth
SR(CE-—E ZR)FHES

BB (UHADFREFLEBTHA
B)MENFIEMT :

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the
year included two (2022: two) directors, details of whose
remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2022:
three) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor
chief executive of the Company are as follows:

e FRMREWASE
FEAE R
RGBSR

—E_=F B

2023 2022

FET FET

HK$’000 HK$’'000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 1,590
Share option expenses 22
Pension scheme contributions 29
1,641

FHNFUTHRENFHERSHE
BQUIFARRBESR) ABIT

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

—=—=

2023
TET
HK$'000

Z%1,000,000 7T Nil to HK$1,000,000

—E__F
2022
FHET
HK$'000

3

2 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
124 Annual Report 2023
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11. INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE

The amount of income tax credit/expense charged/(credited)
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income represents:

—E-=F —E-_—F
2023 2022
FHExT FET
HK$°000 HK$°000

BNEATRIA - Current tax:
- RPN - PRC Enterprises Income Tax 4,305
EFER TR (I 5E29) Deferred taxation (Note 29) (77)
4,228

EARBANERN,(BE)LIAKRA
ARERSEMBARMERR,
AABAERERAE ZRAX
HEABERBRRGFE ZHE LY
B U REABRE(ADAEN R) &
BRI R ZERNT

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit/
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority of its
subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective
tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates [i.e. the
statutory tax rates] to the effective tax rates, are as follows:

2023 2022

THET THET

HK$°000 HK$'000

Bial(&18), &5 (Loss)/profit before tax (425,911) 5,632

BEERMEGTE 2B Tax at the statutory tax rates (87,294) 823

BEANTZ A Income not subject to tax (163) (44,217)

PRI 2 X H Expenses not deductible for tax 36,871 41,430

AR HIAGE Tax losses not recognised 48,275 6,192
BRAEBEERMEAE Tax (credited)/charge at the

ZREEER), ST Group's effective rate (2,311) 4,228
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12.

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

INCOME TAX (CREDIT)/EXPENSE (continued)

(a)

(b)

Hong Kong Profits Tax

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council
passed The Inland Revenue (Amendment]) (No. 7)
Bill 2017 (the "Bill") which introduces the two-tiered
profits tax rate regime. The Bill was signed into law on
28 March 2018 and was gazette on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rate regime, the first
HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity will
be taxed at 8.25%, and profits tax above HK$2 million
will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group entities not
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Group considered the amount
involved upon implementation of the two-tiered profit
tax rates require as insignificant to the consolidated
financial statement. Hong Kong Profits tax is
calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit
for both years. No tax is payable for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: nil) since there was no
assessable profit generated in Hong Kong.

PRC Enterprise Income Tax

The PRC Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% on
the estimated assessable profits arising in the PRC for
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

DIVIDEND

The board of directors do not recommend the payment of
any dividend for the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022.

13.
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(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE T0 OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per
share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

2023 2022
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
TEERER LSS (Loss)/profit for the year attributable to
(E18), BAFA® owners of the Company for the
RRARERARIEFEAR purpose of basic and diluted (loss)/
(B518), & A earnings per share
(423,600) 1,404

BE+-RA=1+—-HLFE

Year ended 31 December

—E-—

2022

(&)

(Restated)
AEERERKES Weighted average number of ordinary
(B518),/ BF Fr A i shares for the purpose of basic and

AR e diluted (loss)/earnings per share
533,312,399 473,610,666

FRNEBITINEFHEBREE A
533,312.399(ZFB=-—F : K&HEIH| A
473,610,666) » BfEL AR &R
gﬁwﬁﬂﬁﬁ?ﬁ’ﬁé?ﬂ#ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ@%

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of
533,312,399 (2022: Restated as 473,610,666) in issue during
the year, as adjusted to reflect the effect of the share
consolidation and issuance of rights shares as disclosed in
note 30.
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(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
OF THE COMPANY /continued)

For the share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair value
(determined as the average market price of the Company’s
shares during the period) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared with
the number of shares that would have been issued assuming
the exercise of the share options.

The computation of diluted (loss)/earnings per share does
not assume the exercise of the Company’s share options
because the exercise price of those share options was
higher than the average market price of shares for the year
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the computation of
diluted earning per share does not assume the conversion
of the Company’s convertible bonds since their assumed
exercise would result in an increase in earning per share.

4 Y% - BERRE

R EEELC )

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZ-=F+_-H=+—HBILEJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

{%E
AELH RER BER
kEF KEIR Rl B&
Leasehold Furniture,
landand  Construction fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings in progress equipment machlnery vehicles
Tén Tén Thn ;i Tén
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000
AR Cost:
n_F-—%-F-H As at 1 January 2022 1,106,592 17,673 8972 1,139,242 3847 2274326
hE Additions - 11337 12 1413 183 12,945
&z Transfer - (53] - 5 - =
e Disposal - - - (2,65] - (2,656)
s Written-off = = - (1,124) (615) (1,739)
ERES Exchange realignment (83,554) (1,702 (527) (85,942) (276) (172,001]
AZEZZF+ZR=+-H  Asat31 December 2022 and
R=%-z%-A-H 1 January 2023 1,023,038 27255 6,457 1,050,986 3139 2110875
hE Addition - 20,899 - 5,662 1508 28069
iH & Disposal (428) - ] 3,792 (1,762 (5991)
s Written-off - - (153) 14,364 (118 [4,615)
EX 3 Exchange realignment (36,461) (1,840) (227) 37.421) (105) (76,054)
R-F-=F+-A=F-H  Asat3! December 2023 986,149 46314 6,068 1,011,091 2662 2,052,284
ZiRERAE Accumulated depreciation
and impairment:
R-E-—F-F-H Asat 1 January 2022 (203,204) (1,722) (5,589 (433,948] (2,995 (647 478)
REEIRIE Depreciation provided during
the year (40,707) - 941) (68,068] (426) (110,144)
HE Impairment (34,086) (2.350) - (22,195] - (58,631)
& Disposal - - - 1533 - 1533
s Written-off - - - 975 51 1,556
B 3 E5 Exchange realignment 9,389 - I 29,404 215 39,650
RZEZZFFZA=1—H  Asat3! December 2022 and
RZ2_=%-A-H 1 January 2023 (268,628 16072 16,088 692,099 e (7351
KERERNE Deprecation provided during
the year (42,672 - (8] (56,534) (331) (99,625)
W Impairment (106,378) (6,599) (41) (75,680 (243) (188,941)
HE Disposal 152 - 8 2,680 1,680 4520
s Written-off - - 147 3,786 109 4,042
& 5 7 Exchange realignment 593 = 212 15,516 45 2179
RZBEZ=FE4+-A=+-H  Asat3! December 2023 (611590] (10671) (5,850) (602,331) (1,37) (1,031,789)
EEWE Carrying amount:
S As at 31 December 2023 574559 35,643 218 408,740 1315 1,020,495
Eﬁ‘?::ﬁ': EJr As at 31 December 2022 794,410 23183 349 558,887 512 1,337,361
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M BERRE® 14.

UL
() AREZEELBRETRBSERZEE

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT /continued)

Note:

(i) The carrying amount of the Group's leasehold land and buildings reporting

BEANAT : periods are analysed as follows:
—EB=F -2
2023 2022
FET FiBx
HK$'000 HK$’000
A B 2 & B AT Medium term leases in Mainland China 574,559 754,410

(i) RZZ-—=F+=-A=+—0 A%£EEA
TR{E47216,036,000/8 T2 1EF - HEL#EE
(ZZT = =4 : 270,790,000/ 7T) B K 3 A
EEAREBEATER 2 RITEEE () °

WME - BB LEERENAFE
FINR A MG RAR MR8

FEREEE 15.

(ii) As at 31 December 2023, buildings, plant and machinery of the Group with a
net carrying amount of approximately HK$216,036,000 (2022: HK$270,790,000}
were pledged to secure banking facilities granted to the Group [note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on property, plant and
equipment are disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

R—H—A As at 1 January 40,629
RNEFHEFTE Depreciation provided during the year (1,336)
BIEEE Impairment loss (5,876)
b . & 51 Exchange realignment (1,679)
R+Z—A=+—H As at 31 December 31,738

EREEERTMERE BN
BEMAET M (EBMRPE) N
I B E HARR AR & BV R R B AR o

R_E-_=F+=-_A=+—H " &

FAREEE#15,3550008 T (2=
— 4 19,685,000/ 7T) 2 FE A

HEIRRITRE R (HIFE25) ©

EREEE RENAFBRN
BB HRRMIFEIS o

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2023

The right-of-use assets represent the land use rights,
comprising cost of acquiring rights to use certain land,
which are principally located in the PRC, for operating
purposes over fixed periods.

As at 31 December 2023, right-of-use assets of
approximately HK$15,355,000 (2022: HK$19,685,000) have
been pledged to secure bank borrowings (note 25).

Details of the impairment testing on right-of-use assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.

BVEE

R EEELC )

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
HEZZ-=F+_-H=+—HBILEJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

=X
Patent
FHET
HK$’000
BN Cost:
R-_B__F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 54,891
ME H &5 Exchange realignment (4,144)
RZEZZF+ZA=+—8HK As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
—FE=F—H—H 50,747
i 5, B 5 Exchange alignment (1,809)
RE-ZZ=H+-"A=1t—H As at 31 December 2023 48,938
EFTEERREE Accumulated amortisation and impairment:
R-ZE-Z—_F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 29,485
RNEZHH Amortisation for the year 1,448
BIEE R Impairment loss 942
MEH &7 Exchange alignment (2,067)
RZEZZF+ZA=+—HK As at 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023
—T-=F—H—H 29,808
AN S 5H Amortisation for the year 4,503
BEEE Impairment loss 2,443
ME H, &5 Exchange alignment (1,012)
R-ZBZ=F+=ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2023 35,742
BRMEE : Carrying amount:
R-ZB-_=%+=-A=t—H As at 31 December 2023 13,196
RZBE-_—_F+=-_HA=+—H As at 31 December 2022 20,939

BRVEAEZRENAFBTHNGES

FATERAR P RE8

Details of the impairment testing on intangible assets are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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PRUBE 17. MINING RIGHTS
FERT
HK$°000
B Cost:
R-ZFE-_—_F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 60,357
b 5. &5 Exchange realignment (4,557)
RZFEZ—F+=—HAH=+—H As at 31 December 2022 and
M_Z_=F—H—H 1 January 2023 55,800
b 5, & 51 Exchange realignment (1,989)
R=-Z2-=5+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2023 53,811
RETE - Accumulated amortisation:
RZE-_—_F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 10,135
NEE#H Amortisation for the year -
M 5 &5 Exchange realignment (880)
—E--F+-A=1+—8kK As at 31 December 2022 and
—E-=%—H—H 1 January 2023 9,255
NEEEEH Amortisation for the year 2,416
BIEEE Impairment loss 6,642
b . & 51 Exchange realignment (373)
R=-ZB-=5+Z-A=+—H As at 31 December 2023 17,940
BRMEE : Carrying amount:
RZBZ-=%+ZA=+—H As at 31 December 2023 35,871
R-B-__H+_H=+—H As at 31 December 2022 46,545

BHRODURPEEHEAILTHA
EOBEHRIERE - UWELORENE
BT LAB

SR AR R 2 RS A 2 B
WA E18 -

2 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
13 Annual Report 2023

The balance represents mining rights of the dolomite mine
located in Baishan City of Jilin Province, the PRC, which is
amortised by the production quantity over the ore reserve.

Details of the impairment testing on mining rights are
disclosed in note 18 to the consolidated financial statements.
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IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
AND MINING RIGHTS

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group's
business was underperformed and incurred losses
due to the constraints to working capital. In view of the
economic performance of the cash generating unit ("CGU")
of magnesium product business which was worse than
expected, management of the Group concluded there was
an indication for impairment and conducted impairment
assessment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$1,020,495,000 (2022:
HK$1,337,361,000), HK$31,738,000 (2022: HK$40,629,000],
HK$13,196,000 (2022: HK$20,939,000) and HK$35,871,000
(2022: HK$46,545,000), respectively.

The Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU, to
which the asset belongs when it is not possible to estimate
the recoverable amount individually, including allocation of
corporate assets when reasonable and consistent basis can
be established. The carrying amounts of assets of CGU was
approximately HK$1,101,300,000 (2022: HK$1,445,474,000).

The recoverable amount of CGU has been determined based
on a value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by the
management of the Group covering the following 5 years
with a post-tax discount rate is 13.90% (2022: 14.41%) as
at 31 December 2023. The cash flows beyond the five-year
(2022: five-year] period are extrapolated using 2.16% (2022:
2%) growth rate, which is based on the industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the long-term average growth
rate for the relevant industry. Another key assumption for
the value in use calculated is the budgeted revenue, gross
margin and operating expenses which are determined
based on the cash-generating unit's past performance and
management expectations for the market development.

R E TR AR AR 133
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18.

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON PROPERTY, PLANT AND
EQUIPMENT, RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS, INTANGIBLE ASSETS
AND MINING RIGHTS (continued)

Based on the result of the impairment assessment,
management of the Group determined that the recoverable
amount of the CGU is lower than the carrying amount. The
impairment amount has been allocated to each category
of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets with finite useful lives such that the
carrying amount of each category of asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less cost to disposal, its
value in use and zero. Based on the value in use calculation
and the allocation, impairment loss of approximately
HK$188,941,000 (2022: HK$58,631,000), HK$5,876,000
(2022: HK$1,957,000), HK$2,443,000 (2022: HK$942,000) and
HK$6,642,000 (2022: HK$nil) has been recognised against
the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets, intangible assets and mining rights
respectively within the relevant functions to which these
assets relate.

rE 19. INVENTORIES
—E-= —E-_—F
2023 2022
FHBT FHxT
HK$’000 HK$°000
R Raw materials 108,967
R Finished goods 83,307
192,274

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES

—E_=5F —E_F
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$’000
JEUE 5 BRE (M FE () Trade receivables (note (i)) 145,687 154,881
B EEEEE Allowance for expected credit loss (144,038) (153,383)
1,649 1,498
JEWE 15 Bills receivable 1,556 S
3,205 1,498

MEE - Note:

(i) AEERERFZESIEURELASE (i)
17 BRI —MTEBM/IB0K - BERFE
EEEREEE AEEB KK
HEBGRIBL SR ERBREERE - RE
BE T B - ER LA -
CAREBZEBEIESRSIRBESZDHMZE
PRI EEANEEETER - AEBEW
EREBRRESERERBTEEMAEKIFR
HEAMEERARE - EUE SERKTEH

B e
R—_FTE-__F—H—H
Eﬁéﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁ%%m

RS HRRERERED
BHRRHRBEREES

ZHRE TN PR

SRR IR (E

=

D ) FE 1

1) the reporting period, based on the invoice

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are

balances. Trade receivables are interest-free.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables

mainly on credit. The

credit period is generally not over 180 days. Each customer has a maximum
credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables and to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed
reqularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the fact
that the Group's trade receivables related to a large number of diversified
customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does
not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable

As at 1 January 2022, trade receivables from contracts with
customers amounted to approximately HK$206,406,000.

as at the end of
date and net of

allowance for expected credit loss, is as follows:

DRR60K
61E90K

—E-=F
2023

TET
HK$'000

Within 60 days
61 to 90 days

=
2022
FET
HK$ 000
1,156
342

1,498

B R SRERAT
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FEWE SRR @)

BUE S EXBREEERREGZ
ZEMT

ZE - =F+ZRA=+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

TRADE RECEIVABLES [continued]

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
trade receivables are as follows:

—E=HF —E-F

2023 2022

FHET FHET

HK$°000 HK$°000

F ¥ At the beginning of year 153,383 56,902
BHIEE BB/ TR (BE#E), (Reversal of)/allowance for expected

BB credit loss, net (3,948 104,173

bE 5, A= R Exchange difference (5,397) (7,692)

RER At the end of year 144,038 153,383

i ELEE )
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_T-=F+=-A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

EBWE SRR 20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

RERGBREEIIAEEE SRR
FENEERBREMDT

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision
matrix:

REREDHEABREEEETH
B - LEt2TBHEEEE - #
HEDERRABEUSEEN (BMZ
WIEEE  EmER - RPEMK
R UARERFXREMAEANE
FAtRB m%%ﬁmmymgﬁﬂ4
HEMNAIEE Trﬁ& ZETE
J B 2% 48 3R hn A A TMFE&
RiRE B EAI 15 ﬁﬁﬂ&%# =
A AR I N FEOBI AR 2R 4B AR ) & 12
% BF o HEEEBEEFGHFS
BHIEELO o

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on internal credit ratings
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type,
customer type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit
or other forms of credit insurance). The calculation reflects
the probability weighted outcome, the time value of money
and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions
and forecasts of future economic conditions. Details of
assessment of expected credit loss was detailed in Note 40.

EHEEE IREAE EiERE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
F#ET FET
HK$ 000 HK$°000
RZZFE_=F+=-HA=+—H 31 December 2023
ENER (k@ ER) Current [not past due) . 1,660 1"
BER DR Less than 1 year past due 144,027 144,027
145,687 144,038
FEHAE IR R REAE Ei8 e
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
FExT FET
HK$’000 HK$°000
RZE-_—_F+=-_HA=+—H 31 December 2022
BN ER (AR %0 E) Current [not past due) 1.64% 1,523 25
BHER D INF Less than 1 year past due 100% 153,358 153,358
154,881 153,383

FEWE ZEREFURETHHFBEHN
BEF40 o

Details of impairment assessment of trade receivables are
set out in Note 40.
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ENNIE - RERHEMER
HhiE

ZE - =F+ZRA=+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

——— —EF

2023 2022

FET FHET

HK$'000 HK$'000

FE A~ 2 aE (B aE ) Prepayments (note (i)) 182,631 186,726
we Deposits 190 253
H th e YokE (B (i) Other receivables (note (ii)) 2,996 3,677
185,817 190,656

TEHEEEERE Allowance for expected credit loss (93) (142)
185,724 190,514

BB EBHYNE BHREES
BREEEMEKKIAGH -

Wit

(i) RZTEZ=F+=ZA=+—0 ' BAREE
BREFEZFEMNKIEL180,743,0008 T
(ZZT = =4 : 182,782,000/ 7T) °

i) HEEsR T Eedn N BERE a0 E(E
492,268,000/ 7T (ZF = =4 : 2,223,000
BT e

e MEMEKHIAZBREREE
BREEHMT

None of the deposits is either past due or impaired. The
allowance for expected credit loss was related to other
receivables.

Notes:
(i) As at 31 December 2023, prepayments mainly comprise of prepayment of

inventory of approximately HK$180,743,000 (2022: HK$182,782,000).

(i) Other receivable mainly comprise of value-added tax recoverable in the PRC of
approximately HK$2,268,000 (2022: HK$2,223,000).

The movements in the allowance for expected credit loss of
deposits and other receivables are as follows:

—E=HF —E-CF

2023 2022

FHET FET

HK$’000 HK$’000

F4 At the beginning of year 132
TRERE BB (B # R E) " # (Reversal of)/allowance for expected

credit loss 18

fEH =% Exchange difference (8)

RER At the end of year 142

Be kEAMEKREREF GO
IEE N AN

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other
receivables are set out in note 40.

2. REeRBEESEEAREIE

B

i ELEE )
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BT -=F+="A=+—HIFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

22. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND PLEDGED BANK

HRTERK DEPOSITS
2023 2022
FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
Be MIBTTHERS Cash and bank balances 28,599
EHEFRITER Pledged bank deposits 9,698
38,297

B B EER(PFEE25)  Less: Pledged deposits for

borrowings (note 25] (9,698)
RekHeEEER Cash and cash equivalents 28,599

EHEFRITER Pledged bank deposits:
N ER D Current portion 9,698

R\EHR - NEBAAREE
ZRENReFEERE AN ER
RITE A /24,621,000 (ZF
::E 38,037,000/ 7T) - AR

SEREBMEMER - R - R
TJ‘%EP BISNEE IR IR B IE - EE
ENEEEMRE  ANEREEESB
ERRAUFELXBHRITHEA

RITREDIRBEB|ITHFHRITER
MR ZF B ERERAE  BF AR
SENEReFR - BHERFER
ZHRS=MEA YEEE 2R
E B TE BN K ERERA B o SRITHEN
REREREFRRERIFERRR
BT B R A SRS SRR ERTT o

EA_?__EJr A=+—8" E
BRETEREB (T
#79,698, 000,%75)5%15&#%%%? LA
EEEREFRE25) -

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash
equivalents and pledged bank deposits of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to approximately
HK$24,621,000 (2022: HK$38,037,000). RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies. However, under Mainland
China’'s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange
RMB for other currencies through banks authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on
daily bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are
made for three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at the
respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
and pledged deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks
with no recent history of default.

As at 31 December 2023, pledged bank deposit of HK$nil
(2022: approximately HK$9,698,000) was pledged to bank for
secured of borrowings (Note 25).
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23. EHEZIRM 23.

RS HRIZER A B D0 RN
B SRR ZIRE DTN TR -

TRADE PAYABLES 24.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice dates, is as follows:

HtEAREREFGERAR
EHNEE®
EAERRAMENRIEARER

24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (continued)

Accruals and other payables are interest-free and repayable

BIRERER - on demand.
—E=HF —EF
2023 2022 B E Notes:
FAT FET (i) RZBEZ=F+=ZA=+—8 " EtHZx (i) As at 31 December 2023, the accrual expenses mainly represent accrual salary
HK$’000 HK$’'000 EREMAHERBIRFL2,492,000/87T and staff benefit of approximately HK$2,492,000 (2022: HK$3,118,000) and
(ZZ -4 :3,118,0008T) R EztHES accrued professional fee of approximately HK$800,000 (2022: HK$1,749,000).
N - FA#9800,000/8 0 (=T = =4 : 1,749,000/
2y NAIEN Within 60 days 5,966 00,0008 7t N
61290K 61 to 90 days 554
75 ii NZTZ=FF+-A=+—8 HMERK (ii) As at 31 December 2023, the other payable was mainly represents interest
B3890 Over 90 days 10,929 i) 2 pay e
HEIBI0R y ' B EAEMNFELI721,0008T (== payable of approximately HK$3,721,000 (2022: HK$8,474,000).
Z4F : 8,474,000/ 7T) °
17,449
li) ERAFERZZZZFRA=T—HEXK lil)  Upon the Creditors’ Scheme becoming effective on 31 May 2022, the
N PN . . % £FEHAT7,203,0008 TR K EERET outstanding accruals and other payable in the amount of approximately
ERNESERRTFHNE - £EHB The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are ERREMBMRED REEEAGEES HK$77,203,000 was fully discharged pursuant to the Creditors’ Scheme.
BRTHIEI80X - normally settled within 180-day terms. B bR o
o N iv)] HHREEEEMNEPRIANE A&5H liv  The Group receives certain portion of contract amounts when signing the
24. E@E{#;ﬁlﬁ&@ﬁgm & 24. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS AND CONTRACT u&%%%%ﬁﬁméﬁﬁﬁiﬁi 0 %:EE?EZ/%%% contracts with customers on sale of magnesium products. The transaction
A MR GEBRNFIHERFFERRENE price allocated to these sales is recognised as a contract liability at the time
= %’\J E{E LIABILITIES B AFERANSHBERBHIHREYD of initial sales transaction. Revenue recognised in the current year that was
£14,598,000 Bt (ZF =4 : 26,321,000 included in the contract liability balance was approximately HK$14,598,000
BT o AEBRBBENRETENN A BIE (2022: HK$26,321,000). The Group considers the advance payments schemes
o EABAD - AU AR RAS BAGR A IE does not contain significant financing component and accordingly the amount
—= ——E'E TEAMAEEREREmMAY RESHE of consideration is not adjusted for the effects of the time value of money taking
2022 WIH S ERFHENTEMARE o into consideration that the payment terms were not structured primarily for the
:F%JTC provision of finance to the Group.
HK$'000 (v) AHBEZEEHMT ¢ (v The movements of contract liabilities are as follows:
FEETE A () Accruals (note [i)) 4,867 L
H b A 3R (BT E ) Other payables (note (ii)) 18,377 -
TR
23‘244 HK$°000 HK$’000
Se— . L . R—RA—Rz#i&s# Balance at 1 January 26,321
VAN == 5 .
& HaEEEEEG) &) Contract liabilities (note (iv)) 14,598 BAREERENBHEEER 2 W Revenue recognised from performance obligations
satisfied during the year (14,598) (26,321)
FARBIZREEH 2z &K A /EEMN Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving
deposits during the year 27,223 16,586
R E5 Exchange realignment (1,988)
RTZR=+—Hz#&# Balance at 31 December 14,598
140 Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited MR R BT AR AR 141
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CE 25. BORROWINGS
—E-=F —E-F
2023 2022
FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
RITRERK Bank borrowings 69,600 72,173
H Atb R (BT REi)) Other borrowings (note [ii)) 265,248 247,931
334,848 320,104
&k Borrowings:
—F R iRERKEH Due within one year or on demand 111,228 114,592
M LA B S Due within a period of more than two years
i HAR A B ER but not exceeding five years 223,620 205,512
334,848 320,104
B SESERB B AR Less: Amounts shown under non-current
liabilities (223,620) (205,512
JERB R ETE Amounts shown under current liabilities 111,228 114,592
B BR BB Less: The carrying amount of bank and
ERERLHEMBARE other borrowings that are
KIEERVIRTT R EAM1E repayable on demand due to
FERERBEET loan defaults or breach of loan
51 7R) (B EEiv) covenants (shown under current
liabilities) (note iv) (111,228) (114,592)
MR —FAEMNFTIRERK Amounts shown under current liabilities
FEt 2 8R1T I E A & 3K for the bank and other borrowings
JIEREBIBEC&F that are repayable within one year or on
demand -
&k Borrowings:
B A ) Secured (note i) 189,782 186,784
EI Unsecured 145,066 133,320
334,848 320,104

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2023
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25. fBRKE

AEEERERAREERA
YR BEDT -

25. BORROWINGS (continued)

as follows:

The ranges of effective interest rates (which are also equal
to contracted interest rates) on the Group’s borrowings are

BZE
—E=F
+t=RA=1—H
IEFE

Year ended
31 December
2023

FET
HK$'000

8.47%
4.25%-5.48%

BERAMx Effective interest rate:
[ 7E A & & Fixed-rate borrowings
PR KGR Variable-rate borrowings

Year ended

31 December

2022
TiERT
HK$°000

8.47%

4.25%-5.48%

ERA T I EEEHE -

Borrowings were denominated in the following currencies:

—=—=

2023
TiBT
HK$°000

AR RMB
BT HK$
ETT us$

—E__F
2022
TFET
HK$°000
72,173

205,512
42,419

320,104

B R SRERAT
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it Eh
B
i -

(i) AR 4189,782,000 L (T ==
F 1 186,784,000 7T) F tE 42 5 e SR BT AR
BRARE—RARMBARIER  WUE
B - BE REHEX216,036,0008 T &
A E#15,355,0008 T (2T - — 4 :
WE - BB KRR E#9331,490,0007 7T X AF A
B EE#19,685,0005 70) {EHL IR ©

(ii) HifEReEeEReRAR((BRES/A
B ERAL1,628,0008 T (— - —4F ¢
42,419,000/ 7T) ¢ (b)EEEAGTEIETBE
223,619,682 L (ZF = =4 : 205,512,076
I °

MR-_ZE-_—FRAF=1+—8 X2EHA
720,419,000 TH R EREBEREREER
ANETEIERR - RIBEEAGE - ZIEH
REDEABLRIERAFHREERE(RIER
Al &[b]‘HﬁHﬂi%E}@uﬁ%(uﬁ/Eﬁl?ﬁ
FE28) c BMEBEANERFERLLT%  ZF
BEMNVISHEREEA198,594,0008 T K
T =F+ A=t BHEEHSEA
223,619,682/ 7T °

(i) R-B-=F+-A=+—8 " RIEZL
HM BT NEERF RGO EB731%(ZT=
—F 1 7.21%) ©

liv AEBETEEREAEXKEERHRES
MREGEE R-TE-_=ZF+=-A= +f
B BREAEA111,2280008T(ZE=
114,592 000%%)9’1%%@%&‘{%%@
REZR# YN -_T-_=%+-F=+—
AMEGREMBHRARFOEARDEE - N
%EE&%EE%%L‘AE&WH@X%%%E
ME - NSV REIERR - Ll EK
EEN DN ER

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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BORROWINGS /continued)

Notes:

(i) Secured borrowings of approximately HK$189,782,000 (2022: HK$186,784,000)
were guaranteed by Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited and a
fellow subsidiary, and secured by pledged property, plant and equipment
of approximately HK$216,036,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately
HK$15,355,000 (2022: property, plant and equipment of approximately
HK$331,490,000 and right-of-use assets of approximately HK$19,685,000).

(ii) Other borrowings included (a) an International Finance Corporation ("IFC") loan
of approximately HK$41,628,000 (2022: HK$42,419,000); (b) liabilities under the
Creditors” Scheme of HK$223,619,682 (2022: HK$205,512,076).

As of 31 May 2022, the outstanding borrowing in the principal amount of
approximately HK$720,419,000 was discharged pursuant to the Creditors’
Scheme. Pursuant to the Creditors’ Scheme, the admitted claims had
been allocated into (a) a 5-year term extension option ("Option A" and (b] a
convertible bonds swap option [please refer to note 28). The effective interest
rate of Option A is 8.47%, and the initial recognition of such liabilities is
HK$198,594,000 and amortized to HK$223,619,682 as of 31 December 2023.

(iii) The weighted effective interest rate of bank and other borrowings as of 31
December 2023, is approximately 7.31% (2022: 7.21%).

(iv) Certain of the Group's facilities were subject to the fulfillment of covenants
commonly found in lending arrangements. As of 31 December 2023, borrowings
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$111,228,000 (2022: HK$114,592,000)
were in default of repayment or loan covenants and were classified as current
liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December
2023. The Group is in negotiations with the lenders to refinance the borrowings
at the end of the reporting period. As of the approval date of the consolidated
financial statements, the aforesaid borrowings were not yet renewed nor
repaid.

26.

2].

FEUR, {5 FR R 3
BEER AT
RZEZ=F+A=+—HEZ=
7__$+ A=+—BENER
TR AR FIB A EEAE - %,_\&&
EREE - BRFAREZERAAIFKIEA
REEA ?ﬁlmﬁﬂxw_d‘u’
BIRERKEE -

BEASAER -_ZE-_—_FRA=F
—EIE,&{% ENEEEZERARZ

RIE#750,159,000/8 TR AR B EREA
.ﬁ%ﬂ%ﬂﬂ%ﬂt

EFEWA

NP
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26. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO AN INTERMEDIATE/IMMEDIATE

HOLDING COMPANY

As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, the amount
due to an immediate holding company is unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand. The amount due
from an intermediate holding company is unsecured,
interest-bearing at a fixed rate of 5% per annum and
repayable on demand.

Upon the Creditors’” Scheme becoming effective on 31 May
2022, the amount due to an immediate holding company of
approximately HK$50,159,000 was discharged pursuant to
the Creditors’ Scheme.

27. DEFERRED REVENUE

B B AR R 2 BUR R K

—E_=F —_E_—
2023 2022
FExT FET
HK$°000 HK$°000

Government grants received related
to assets

69,354

%ﬁﬁi%ﬁ%Z%@ EMW%
LeBEBREXBERA +
EAMmﬁﬁJi_ﬁ%u . RIE
&g BEHBFRERAILITX
LeBEBEXBERA Th&ﬁ%é
(&) A E A EMKMES
ME - BB RREHER °

BE_S-_=FK-_ZF-_—_F+=
A=+—HIL&EE r AEBITEWK
HEHé% ﬁ@ "—_E&

A 45 T 52 A o] L {‘MAU\ JE%LHSU\
RREMER D TR O S Z BATE ©

P sk Ak IR IR IB < B B) - #1%A
fE R IR T WA B EL IR AFIR T &2
ERX  BREZATHERER RS
HIR B P ERR o

In order to encourage the development of magnesium
industry, Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Co., Limited entered into an agreement with the local
government in 2012. Pursuant to the agreement, the local
government agree to provide financial assistance (the
“Assistance”) to Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources
Company Limited to improve their production technology and
enhance the capacity of the property, plant and equipment.

During the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, the
Group has not received any Assistance and there were
no other income was recognised for the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022. The carrying amount of deferred
revenue decreased due to the arise of exchange difference.

The Assistance received or which becomes receivables is
initially recognised as deferred revenue and subsequently
recognised in profit or loss over the life of a depreciable
asset by way of as a reduced depreciation charge expense.
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R ES

%:2__¢AH£E VNN Tm
BEEAGTEMNERETAS R
458390,000%%7EEUfﬁ?ﬁﬁi‘]#ﬁﬂxﬁ%
HF(aJmiESR) -

AMRESE TESFTE AREN N
%kﬁo%ﬂ%ﬂﬂﬁ$¢ﬁ il v
HFEERR)(ZEZF 1 1.208
7T) B ER AR 19 ﬂ%kﬁ%%ﬂ%a
AERITHEBRHAT - HEATY
RE i E A5 H B RTRE R E 82
o RRBIWERVEEE M AE
EIREH AT RES -

EATMRESFGEROFS B8
EIRIN/N TE%%_Ezziﬁﬂ_
H&iE

BERAEENGETER - AT BRRE
FRBEENTHNEERNTULS
HEERESTAMNEESD RO
AReRBERER WEDRERE
BEBNETeEMNRERS—8
CHMEEHLNETHEMHARRAR
%%AIA%“ BB TA -
BEBIHRIABRBEUNTTE
%Iﬂmﬁﬁﬁ%ﬂfﬁﬁﬁ“

I D ﬂ@\MWﬁkﬁ%%ﬁ
BEIETRY - BT ABLORIEE
W%%ﬁfﬁﬁfwmﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ
FEHNH - BEBHIRVITER
R ERFENEE8LT% °

W/HATWhE%% £ R
EEERIFERERER

ﬂo
R—E-_—_F+=-_A=+—8"
AMRESFEESIS N AREAS
320,048,000 7T - BAREZHRH
F=M e

KEE iﬂlﬂm%ﬁf EENAR
BEERE

28.
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ZE - =F+=A=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 5 August 2022, the Company has issued zero coupon
convertible bonds (“Convertible Bonds”) with aggregate
principal amount of HK$458,390,000 pursuant to the terms
of the Creditors” Scheme.

The Convertible Bonds entitle the bondholder to convert to
shares at a conversion price of HK$0.933 after adjusted for
the effect of rights issue during the year (2022: HK$1.20).
The maturity date of the Convertible Bonds is 5 years from
the date of issue. Conversion may occur at any time before
maturity date of the Convertible Bonds. The Company will
redeem the Convertible Bonds if the bonds have not been
converted on maturity date.

For more details of the terms of Convertible Bonds. Please
refer to the Company’s circular dated on 3 May 2022.

According to the Group's accounting policy, the Convertible
Bonds are classified separately as financial liabilities and
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument. Conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another
financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’'s own
equity instruments is an equity instrument. The fair value
of the liability component is estimated using the prevailing
market interest rate for similar non-convertible instruments.
The equity element is presented in equity under the heading
of “convertible bond equity reserve”. The issuer redemption
options are considered as closely related to the host debt
and are not separated from the host contract. The effective
interest rate of the liability component on initial recognition
is 8.47% per annum.

The convertible option initially included in convertible bonds
equity reserve was transferred to retained earnings upon

expiry.

The fair value of the liability component of the Convertible
Bonds at 31 December 2022 amounted to HK$320,048,000,
which are within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to fair values.

28. AR ESE)

iW%”MTW%%#E%%EE
Bal D RES DT

B
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28. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

The Convertible Bonds issued during the year have been
split into the liability and equity components as follows:

AMBESNEITRRNAAE

FET
HK$'000

Fair value of the Convertible Bonds
at the issuance date

R Es D Equity Component
RETHHNAERD Liability component at the issuance date

17H =
BRI (M EE8)

Interest expenses (Note 8)

gé:_¢+ RA=+—HB&
D

Liability component as at 31 December 2023
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IEFE B IE
FARGE VM BRAKRER ZIELT
70 TE 45 BR 9 AH B B0 10 & B B 4n
T

ELERIBEE

29. DEFERRED TAXATION

29.

The components of deferred tax balances recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position and the

movements during the year as follows:

Deferred Tax Liabilities

AR ES HAEEE
Convertible Right-of-
bond use assets Total
FHBT FETT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
R-ZF-——F—H—H As at 1 January 2022 - 2,995 2,995
FTALREER M EAM Credited to consolidated
2EBAK statement of profit
or loss and other
comprehensive income = (77) (77)
BB T MR ES B2 Deferred tax related to
EIERTE insurance of convertible
bonds 6,861 - 6,861
PE H &7 Exchange realignment = (225] (225)
MRZE-_—F+=-HA=+—H Asat31 December 2022
rMZE-_=9—H—H and 1 January 2023 6,861 2,693 9,554
SFAGAEG MEAM Credited to consolidated
FEBAK statement of profit
or loss and other
comprehensive income - (73) (73)
B ITA AR E S EER 2  Deferred tax related to
EER TR movement of convertible
bonds (2,238) - (2,238)
b . & 51 Exchange realignment - (95] (95)
N-E-=F As at 31 December 2023
+=A=+—H 4,623 2,525 7,148

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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EERIE ()
EEFIEEEE)

REERBEBR(BBR) TR
BERBEENTEEEL 536,537,000
B (ZE -4 :87,887,000/%
J0) - WAl EmR A E S B &
BHRARIMARRERB G o K&
EMRFPREAEEREEESS
T(ZT==F %) B —
ERFREEUEERRERD &
Ao AttHEBARE EE —REH
B R A ERF ST R LA $5 it
EWBRRIATEBA 2 HIEERE @ K
RHEEEMS @ URERELER
HEE o

REFELEMSHRE  RPER
WK ZINERERIEREES
2B BRI I10% 2 E#H - =
BREEH-_ZEZN\F-—A—HE
AR WERAR_-_ZETLF+ A
ST —BZBRELEZAFN - i E
A EINEREE B REE &R
ZEFTERGHE  BAREET
BN - AKEME - B
BES5% Bt - REBANF
BAmKL B RN -TEN
F-A—BUREL ZBF IR
LB E R -

RZE-_=F+=-A=+—H K
EEWERN RN T 2 M B
AR BERRREERARRAKRE
BB MES Z B S E i
REMELEHE BEFERE bE
MEBAR  BERRRAERDE
ARARRTKAEDRLERTF -
REEHR - BERPE AN
BRR - AERAIRBERRZE
& WAEBELERERZB(ZE
TTF |

ZNNEIICIE S SR N0l S Wik 300
BRIEHER -
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DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
Deferred Tax Liabilities (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong before Inland
Revenue Department ("IRD") assessment of approximately
HK$36,537,000 (2022: HK$87,887,000) that are available
indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the
companies in which the losses arose. The Group also has
tax losses arising in Mainland China of HK$nil (2022: HK$nil)
that will expire in one to five years for offsetting against
future taxable profits. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as they have arisen
in subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time
and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the tax losses can be utilised by
these subsidiaries.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is effective
from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31
December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be
applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and
the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. The Group is therefore liable
to withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of
earnings generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 December 2023, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding dividend taxes that would be payable on
the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding
dividend taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries, associate, and
joint ventures established in Mainland China. In the opinion
of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries,
associate and joint ventures will distribute such earnings in
the foreseeable future. There was no significant temporary
difference associated with investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associate in Mainland China at the end of the
reporting period (2022: nil).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.
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@IS

AREEE REBITIRA 2 2B

30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. RA&w 30. SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

A summary of movements in the Company’s authorised and Fif i - Notes:

A issued share capital is as follows: (a) KRR ZBRAEER_Z_=_FtA+TA (a) On 14 July 2022, the capital reorganisation of the Company became effective.
AR MRABEBFEATEE ! And the capital reorganization comprised the following:

Number of Share (i) RRABRAPEF =+ RFKEE.10 (i) every twenty issued and unissued shares of par value HK$0.10 each in
shares capital BLZBEITRRETROEH A — the share capital of the Company be consolidated into one consolidated
2R AR BRAH FAREE2.008 T2 share of par value HK$2.00 each in the share capital of the Company;

AP’
RHEE RA
HK$'000 (i) ARASHIDRL - (2 ERR D& OF i E £ 2 AR (i) the capital reduction by which: (a) any fractional consolidated share
THT NAIBBITRAREMEHES GR) in the issued share capital of the Company arising from the share
2L BFEE  RIOERAREZEETT consolidation shall be cancelled; and [b) the issued share capital of the
SEERAE | dand fullvoaid Eﬁ{' gﬁgﬁiﬁﬁiﬁz@é Comp;my be reduced by cancelling the paid-up capital to the extent
XTI g ssued and rully palid: fin 2 BB AR T IH1.9978 T - of HK$1.99 on each of the then issued consolidated shares such that
FREENBTE AR Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 SERITA G 2 F1E R B A%2.00 the par value of each issued consolidated share will be reduced from
iy R ‘ BARESTROOET | & HK$2.00 to HK$0.01; and
(Z2-Z%  0018T) (2022: HK$0.01) each
RZE-ZZ%—-H—H As at 1 January 2022 6,584,390,058 658,439 I 008
5 YN c - lii) EEERAEIRE - SREE2.005T (i) immediately following the capital reduction, each of the authorised but
HXZE% R 2 BRI : RIBE R Capital r(.%dU(-:tIOH, share ZEEBRBETEHROEIFAR= unissued consolidated share with par value of HK$2.00 each be sub-
Bn AR (R ta) consolidation and share BREREEOB T FTEBA - divided into two hundred new shares of par value HK$0.01 each.
sub-division upon capital
reor anisationpeffectFi)ve (Note al (6,255.170,556) (655,147 (b) HE_Z-_—F+-A=+—HIEEE & (b) During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company issued 65,843,900
- o L RN (T g . AR ' BEEAGTE - RATEREITEER.20 scheme shares at an issue price of HK$1.20 per share under the Creditors’
RERE RT3 8IRD (FiiEb) Issue of scheme shares upon capital 7T 1765,843,900/ 5T &Ik tn - BMEEFRE Scheme which represents 20% of existing number of issued shares before
isati i M EITR 2R AEBITROEE 20% ° relevant share issue.
reorganisation effective (Note b) 65,843,900 658
__ FTEIRD BT B A AR RERRIBIEE The Scheme Shares are held by the Scheme Company for and on behalf of the
g__¢+ H —I— AR As at 31 December 2022 and 1 ‘January 2023 BERARE - BITHAERMETEEBRER Term Extension Option Creditors. None of the Term Extension Option Creditors
:g: ¢ A—H 395,063,402 3,950 HREIEHEEAKATERE - will become a substantial shareholder of the Company as a result of the
7 SANSITAN ; issuance of the Scheme Shares.
B THARARD (B 5% c) ssuance of right shares [Note c) 197,531,701 1,976
EREZHE  F2HAEARRBEHA-Z - For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 3
RZBZ=#+ZA=1-H As at 31 December 2023 592,595,103 5,926 —ERAZRAR-E-—FtA-tABZ May 2022 and 26 July 2022.
N=

Rare Earth Magnesium Technology Group Holdings Limited
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(c)

RZZEZ=FTA=1TH KAREZRKR=F
ZEFAAZT—HEHREMBRRERGE
B R 2 BEETTHR - REBER
GRREARAR(H0.0875 7T -

T8I A A REE1,230,21 2B AR AR {0 © AR
Exﬁ(fﬁ TR BB IR 2B
3 51 430.9337%8 7T %.80,242,892/% °

FRESHE  F2HARRAHA-FT -
=F#+AXA - ZZEZ=Ft+A=+tHK
—F_=FtTAZtRAZAS -

(c)

On 30 October 2023, the Company carried out a rights issue on the basis of one
rights share for every two existing shares held on 21 September 2023 at the
subscription price of HK$0.08 per rights share.

The scheme company applied for 1,230,212 rights issue. With the effect of the
rights issue, the adjusted conversion price per share and number of conversion
share would be HK$0.933 each and 80,242,892 respectively.

For more details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 6
October 2023, 27 October 2023 and 30 October 2023.
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ZE - =F+ZRA=+—HI5Z For the year ended 31 December 2023

SHARE OPTIONS

On 4 December 2017, a share option scheme (the "Scheme”)
was approved by the shareholders of the Company. Under
the Scheme, the Company may grant options to the directors
or employees of the Group and any substantial shareholder,
consultant or adviser, distributor, contractor, supplier,
service provider, agent, customer and business partner of
the Group (the “Eligible Participant”) to subscribe for shares
in the Company.

Options may be granted on such terms and conditions
in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise as the
directors may determine in its absolute discretion, provided
that such terms and conditions shall not be inconsistent with
any other term conditions of the Scheme.

The subscription price is not less than the highest of (i] the
closing price of the shares on Main Boards stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date of offer
of the option; (ii] the average prices of the shares on Main
Board as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the
date of offer of the option; and (i) the nominal value of the
shares. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
repurchase or settle the options in cash.

The share options are exercisable only if the Eligible
Participants remain in the service of the Group or substantial
shareholder from the grant date of the share options up to
the designated exercise date.

The total number of shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each eligible person in
the twelve-month period expiring on the offer date must
not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Group.
Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the Group, or any
of their respective associates, would result in the securities
issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options already
granted and to be granted (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) to such person in the twelve-
month period up to and including the date of such grant (i)
representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the relevant class of
securities in issue: and (i) (where the securities are listed on
the Stock Exchange), having an aggregate value, based on
the closing price of the securities at the date of each grant,
in excess of HK$5 million, such further grant of options
must be approved by shareholders of the Group.

BRE®
BE_ZT_=F+-A=+—
BiIEE
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Held at
1 January
2023

W ks
Employees 8,170,000
7,000,000
B EE
Directors
pihie3 1,500,000
Shum Sai Chit
B 250,000
Kwong Ping Man
REA 250,000

Cheung Sound Poon

10,170,000
7,000,000

17,170,000

Adjusted
upon the
completion
of the
rights issue

1,040,280

190,994

31,832

31,832

1,294,938

{R&RE

Held after
rights issue

9,210,280

1,690,994

281,832

281,832

11,464,938

11,464,938

£
Ritiz
BhE

Options
granted
during
the year

£
fifez
BhRE

Options
exercised
during the

year

Options
cancelled
during
the year

Options
lapsed
during

the year

(9,210,280)
(7,000,000}

(1,690,994

(281,832)

(281,832)

(11,464,938)
(7,000,000}

(18,464,938)

R
“ECCE
tA=1A
tRaIEH

(id|

Exercisable

price per

share before

Heldat rights issue

31 December on30
2023 October 2023

BT

i
ZBIZE
+A=1H

ik
he
8k
i3
Adjusted
exercise
price

per share
after

the rights
issue on 30
October
2023

BT
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BREw 31. SHARE OPTIONS (continued)
BE-_ZE-_—_F+-HA=1— For the year ended 31 December 2022
HIEFE
R
—E-CF
H # B tAtm
t Tl ZECCE ZEICE RfddAz
-B RRBEK £ £ £ £ = tA+EA TREER
- EET  NER  B42  GE2 EEr AW Tt-R BAAH e
22} (W30 afiEkE BRE Bk BRE BRE #E  ZBROFE (1)

Adjusted

upon the

completion

Heldat  of the share

1 January  consolidation

Held after
share

2022 [note 30)  consolidation

W ke
Employees 163,400,000 (155,230,000)
140,000,000 (133,000,000)
B  EE
Directors
it 30,000,000 (28,500,000)
Shum Sai Chit
B 5000000 (4,750,000)
Kwong Ping Man
KER 5,000,000 (6,750,000)
Cheung Sound Poon
B 5,000,000 (6,750,001
Kwan Ngai Kit*

8,170,000
7,000,000

1,500,000

250,000

250,000

250,000

Adjusted

Exercisable exercisable

price per share price per share

Options Options Options Options before share after share
granted exercised cancelled lapsed Heldat  consolidation  consolidation
during during the during during 31 December on14July on 14 July 2022
the year year the year the year 2022 2022 [note)
i AR

HKS HKS

- 8,170,000 0.4 8
7,000,000 03 b

1,500,000 0.4 8

- - - - 250,000 0.4 8

- - - - 250,000 04 8

- - - (250,000) - 04 8

208,400,000 (197,980,000)
140,000,000 (133,000,000)

10,420,000
7,000,000

- - (250,000 10,170,000 0.4 8
- - - 7,000,000 03 b

348,400,000 (330,980,000)

17,420,000

- - (2500001 17,170,000

*

RoZ-——#XA-++HEF

—F+-A=+—BIEK
ﬁTEE RBAHE -

BHY - RZEtEITE T Al 4t
E&P%%@Eimﬁﬁ
E)/&22,.871,9500% - HHE
O BTSN 493.86% o
FHHN EBLE - AR
—RAMHER °
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* retired on 27 June 2022

No options were outstanding at 31 December 2023.

As at the date of the annual report, the total number of
Shares of the Company available for issue under the Scheme
(including the above Options outstanding not yet exercised)
was 22,871,950 representing approximately 3.86% of the
issued share capital of the Company as of the date thereof.
The remaining life of the Scheme is approximately 4 years
and to be expired on 4 December 2027.

31.

32.
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SHARE OPTIONS (continued)

The fair value of Options granted during the year ended
31 December 2019 determined using the Binomial Option
Pricing model was approximately HK$13,509,000. The
significant inputs into the model were share price of
HK$0.285, at the grant date and adjusted for the effect of
the share subdivision, exercise price shown above, expected
volatility ranged from 46.729% to 54.568%, annual risk-free
interest rate of 1.459% to 1.758%. Expected life of Options
of approximately 1.10 to 3.10 years and dividend payout
ratio 1.64. The volatility measured at the standard deviation
of expected share price returns is based on statistical
analysis of daily share prices from 31 December 2010 to
25 July 2019. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
HK$nil (2022: approximately HK$918,000) were charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

No Options were granted during the years ended 31
December 2023 and 2022.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements
therein for the current year and prior period are presented
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
60 of the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution, calculated in accordance with the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended) ("Companies
Act”) amounted to HK$521,318,000 (2022: HK$669,253,000).
Under the Companies Act, the Company’'s contributed
surplus of the Company is also available for distribution to
the Shareholders. No dividend shall be paid or distribution
made out of contributed surplus if to do so would render the
Company unable to pay its liabilities as they become due or
the realisable value of its assets would thereby become less
than its liabilities.

The Group's special reserve represents the difference
between the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the
listing of the Company's shares in 1993, and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor.
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ACTIVITIES

33. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING

R-Z-=%F—-f—H
HERSRE

& 5 7
LR es
R FIE
ERMET

As at 1 January 2023
Financing cash flow
Exchange realignment
Other non-cash movement:
Interest payable

Effective interest expense

R-E-=#+-A=1-H

Net debt as at 31 December

/()

ERAR

LA

Due from/

(to) holding
companies Borrowings
iR iR
HK$'000 HK$'000
2,87 320,104
(6,010) (901)
(2,463)

18,108

EHNE

Interest
Payables
THER
HK$'000
8,474

(8,474)
687

3,034

RRES

Convertible
bonds
THER
HK$'000

320,048

271122

P ‘=‘-|—
A

Total
TR
HK$'000

651,497
(15,385)
(1,776)

3,034
45,230

MERKFE 2023 334,848 347,170 682,600
Eff—-%
RER 258 fER ERNE WRRES - hy
Duetoa Interest  Convertible
shareholder Borrowings  Payables bonds Total
TEn FEn TEn FEn FEn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
W-E-—F-f—H As at 1 January 2022 39,958 876,043 82,847 - 998,848
WEBERE Financing cash flow 13,072 (34,621) (429) - (21,978)
B 5 &7 Exchange realignment = (6,411) 183 S (6,228)
EiRe 88 Other non-cash movement:
RIS Interest payable - 3,076 - 3,076
ERFIST Effective interest expense - 6,918 - 10,385 17,303
REBEAGAERNAE Liabilities transferred pursuant to the
Creditors’ Scheme (50,159)  (521,825) (77,203 309,663 (339,524)
R-Z-—#+-A=1-AH Net debt as at 31 December
HEREE 2022 2871 320,104 8474 320048 651497
EBERF 34. NON-CASH TRANSACTION

BT - —"F#+-_A=+—81t
FEHHE - UE BEEKBEIAR
EROHBTEERTE
#91,601,0007 7T &% 5,921,000 7T AT

d:/v/v
#*HE o

BTN R

respectively.
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During the year ended 31 December 2022, additions
of property, plant and equipment was partially settled
by inventories and prepayment for inventories with the
amounts of approximately HK$1,601,000 and HK$5,921,000

i ELEE )
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_T-=F+=-HA=+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

. EEIKM 35. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

AEBUREEEELBBEFAOER
B FEE RMIsE14 ~ 15 2225 °

Details of the Group's borrowings, which are secured by
certain assets of the Group, are included in notes 14, 15, 22

and 25.
36. AH&IE 36. COMMITMENTS
REBRBERRITA T5IE KA The Group had the following capital commitments at the end
¥ of the reporting period:
—EZ=F ===
2023 2022
FiEx FTExT
HK$°000 HK$'000
EETAMERIER S Contracted, but not provided for:

18,872 26,973

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Property, plant and equipment

3. EXBEALRS

(a) MREMSHMBEHRKREMEEF (a] In addition to the transactions detailed elsewhere in
MR HIN - RNFA - NEE these financial statements, the Group had the following
BETIERBEALRS - material transactions with related parties during the

year:

Bz

—E2E=F ==
TZA=1—H ==
LHFE LEFE
Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
TET FExT
HK$°000 HK$°000

[A) AR FEI 2 AR 2 B 32 A Management fee paid to
LERE an intermediate holding

company 2,950
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3. EXBEALTRS @)
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

AEBFEEBEAESRM (b) Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:
—E=F —=E==
2023 2022
FHBT FET
HK$’000 HK$’000
= A EE)) Directors (Note 9) 1,517
HhEZEERAS : Other key management personnel:
e kEMEHESREAN Salaries and other short term
employee benefits 1,641
3,158
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As at 31 December 2023, the amount due to an
immediate holding company was approximately
HK$5,822,000 (2022: HK$2,871,000). The amount is
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on
demand [note 26).

As at 31 December 2023, the convertible bonds issued
to the immediate holding company of the Company,
Ming Xin Developments Limited, was approximately
HK$338,601,000 (note 28).

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
published on 1 August 2021 (the "Announcement”],
Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Co., Ltd.
and Xinjiang Tengxiang Magnesium Products Company
Limited, the indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of
the Company, entered into guarantee agreements
with a bank to guarantee the payment obligations
of Shandong Hongri Chemical Joint Stock Company
Limited ("Shandong Hongri“), an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited (the controlling shareholder of the Company],
in respect of the loans amounting to RMB124.96 million
advanced by that bank to Shandong Hongri under the
loan agreements. Shandong Hongri is accordingly a
connected person of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules, and the guarantees constituted
connected transactions of the Company under the
Listing Rules and were subject to the reporting,
announcement requirements and independent
shareholders” approval requirement under Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. However, the Company
had not complied with the reporting, announcement
requirements and independent shareholders™ approval
requirement in respect of the Guarantees at the
relevant time. The Company has taken various remedial
measures to enhance its internal control and prevent
recurrence of such non-compliance as disclosed in the
Announcement.
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company
published on 16 August 2023, the Company has entered
into the loan agreements with Century Sunshine
Group Holdings Limited for a term of 1 year from 16
August 2023 to 15 August 2024, pursuant to which the
Company has agreed to provide a loan of less than
HK$10,000,000 to Century Sunshine Group Holdings
Limited, bearing an interest rates of 5% per annum.

As Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited is an
intermediate holding company of the Company, and
is therefore a connected person of the Company.
Pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, the
transaction contemplated under the loan agreement
constitutes a connected transaction of the Company. As
one or more of the relevant applicable ratios (as defined
under Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules) in respect of the
loan are less than 25%, and the loan principal under
the Loan Agreement exceeds HK$3,000,000 but is less
than HK$10,000,000, pursuant to Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules, the Loan Agreement and the transaction
contemplated thereunder are subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, but are exempt from
the circular (including independent financial advice)
and independent Shareholders” approval requirements.

As at 31 December 2023, the amount due from Century
Sunshine Group Holdings Limited is HK$8,961,000
(2022: HK$NIL).
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37. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(g) Pursuant to Rule 14A.72 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”):

- Save as disclosed in the item (a], (c], (d) and (f)
above, the Directors consider that the other
related party transactions disclosed in the Note
37 do not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transactions
under “management fee paid to an intermediate
holding company” set forth in item (a) above are
fully exempt from the reporting, announcement,
circular and shareholders’ approval requirements
under Rule 14A.73 and Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules.

- The Directors confirm that the transaction under
“amount due to Ming Xin Developments Limited”
set forth in item (c) was conducted on normal
commercial terms or better, and not secured by
the assets of the Group, and thus are fully exempt
from the reporting, announcement, circular and
shareholders’” approval requirements under Rule
14A.73 and Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that the
other related party transactions disclosed in the Note 37 and
elsewhere in these financial statements do not fall under the
definition of “connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as
follows:

—E-=%+=-A=+—-H

31 December 2023

FEWE B RSN RN R

IR MEMERRIBEZ EREE

Ae KRS EEER
FEUL P IR A A ) 2 ROR

2
LESTE ¥
SRAE

Financial
assets at
amortised cost
THET
HK$°000

Financial assets

Trade receivables and bills receivable

Financial assets included in deposits and
other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Amount due from an intermediate holding
company

FERT B B iRK
SIREM N MEERZ
TRBE

=

FEN B R AR Z FRIA
AR BRAE 55

R
A& 2
=K
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
F#ET
HK$’000

Financial liabilities

Trade payables 15,472
Financial liabilities included in other

payables and accruals 25,752
Borrowings 334,848
Amount due to an immediate holding

company 5,822

347,170

Convertible bonds

729,064
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8. REREsZ2EMIAE®

38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (continued)

—®-—f+=A=+—H
31 December 2022

R

RAGTE2

eREE

Financial

assets at

SREE Financial assets amortised cost

TET

HK$°000

e E S BRI Trade receivables 1,498
P BEe REMBRFIEZ EMEE Financial assets included in deposits and

other receivables 3,789

EARITER Pledged bank deposits 9,698

RekREeFEER Cash and cash equivalents 28,599

43,584

g i

BRATTEZ

cRas

Financial

liabilities at

TRIEE Financial liabilities amortised cost

FHET

HK$'000

e 8B 5 R Trade payables 17,449

S RE M ENFIEREFERZ Financial liabilities included in other

TRAE payables and accruals 23,244

&K Borrowings 320,104

N — R E 2 KB Amount due to a shareholder 2,871

AR ESH Convertible bonds 320,048

683,716
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FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Management has assessed that the fair values of the
Group's financial assets and liabilities, the balance were
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the
short term maturities of these instruments.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments mainly comprise
trade and bills receivables, deposits and other receivables,
amount due from an intermediate holding company, cash
and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, trade payables,
other payables and accruals, borrowings, and amount due to
an immediate holding company and convertible bonds.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign
currency risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant. For transactions that are
not denominated in the functional currency of the relevant
operating unit, the Group does not offer credit terms without
the specific approval of the Head of Credit Control.
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0. EEREERFERBKR 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 4. BKEREREBRERBEE 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(& [continued) (& [continued)
=S E K Credit risk (continued) E?ﬁ%@zﬁ%\@ﬁﬁﬁﬁ,ﬁﬂﬁ%% The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
N . N , o _ Bt EREEMERMNEER the Group’'s financial assets, which are subject to ECL
AEENABEERR S RTEHE The Group’'s internal credit risk grading assessment % e —————
AT R comprises the following categories:
B MBEE RIBEE 12{8 A= 2 HITE
REME B 7R it FEUk & 5 BR X HttEmERE Mz B R EEEE REAE
Internal credit Other financial External
rating Description Trade receivables assets credit Internal credit  12-month or
EER RBUFTOBNARELLEEIN  HEHEEHE - 1218 B &5 Notes rating  ratings Hfetime ECL Gross carrying amount
BEATRIA ARBELEEERE EEBE —EC=H
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default Lifetime ECL- 12m ECL 2023
and does not have any past-due not credit-impaired FHET
amounts \ \ o HK$'000 HK$°000
EREE BERAREEDREAEN - BT EHIEHEEEE - (VAEDSBEE:E
BEUBE RELEERE EEER RBERSTENEREE
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates Lifetime ECL- 12m ECL Financial assets at
but usually settle in full not credit-impaired amortised cost
17 5% RIBAEER KIS EF - SHIREHREERE - 2HRBEEESE - e 550 20 ERE SHESEEEE
B YIS HBARGEERBREE LA REEREME — ABECHRE - ARLERAE 1523
Doubtful There have been significant increases Lifetime ECL- Lifetime ECL- Trade receivables 20 Low risk lifetime ECL-
in credit risk since initial recognition not credit-impaired  not credit-impaired et o not credit-impaired 1,523
through information developed ERRE FHRAEERA
internally or externally ' - ?K%_':HE ERE -
18 EEBETEECRAERERE SHEHEEHE - 2HEBEEHE - Hatentist - Hfenme Lol
=B 2B credit-impaire -
Loss There is evidence indicatin [ E%iﬁ:gﬁﬁ- E%E‘DEME- Pt HEHESER
g the asset is Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL CkmALERE ~
credit-impaired credit-impaired credit-impaired Doubtful lifetime ECL:wz)t
i 44 EEBERESABABREHET WEEHLE L Ex S ]
7 52 B e [0 3R IE P M S g gl
. — N o o B rHRBESER
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the Amount is written off Amount is written off - BRALEE 144,027 153,358
debtor is in severe flnanue_]l c_hfﬂculty e e
and the Group has no realistic prospect credit-impaired 144,027 153 358
e RH M EWEIR 21 e ERRSEEER 3,186 3,930
Deposits and other receivables 21 Low risk 12m ECL 3,186 3,930
EERRITER 22 MEr2  TEA 12EABHEEER . 9,698
Pledged bank deposits 22 A3toAa2 N/A 12m ECL = 9,698
RITHE 22 AZA3 TR EARBEEER 39,936 28,595
Bank balances 22 A3toAa3  N/A 12m ECL 39,936 28,595
are Ear agnesium Technolo roup Holdings Limite BRI ERIE NS
16[' innufl R?p?rt%OZ?a fechnelooy Group eldings Hmited R EJJM%;EE;&; 165
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40.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant outstanding
balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the ECL
on these items on a collective basis, grouped by aging status
and past due status.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation
to its operation. The following table provides information
about the exposure to credit risk for trade receivables which
are assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). Debtors with credit-impaired with gross
carrying amounts of HK$144,027,000 as at 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$153,358,000) were assessed individually.

A EBE E AR

1K= g Low risk
ERAE Watch list
E2-3 Doubtful

Internal credit rating

—E-=F —EC- 8
2023 2022

FHEBEE  ERESRR FHEEE  ERESERR
Average Trade Average Trade
loss rate receivables loss rate receivables
FHET FHET
HK$°000 HK$'000
1.6% 1,523

TEA
N/A -

TEA
N/A -

1,523

i AR T R IR B I 5 BB AR
FETE A 0 AV R W01
KE(ER T WRBANRBS
P A 3158 ) BV R 43 60 AT OE Y
F AR -

HE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—8 1t
FE - AEERBEEETHERE
WE 5 R FUR B E 18R E 13,0008
TC(ZEZ—F : ##19,00087T) °
BOSAEBREATCHLEEER
B/ BRRET IR R E B 153,935,000
TL(ZE 4 : #15104,192,000%
JL) ©
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The estimated loss rates are estimated based on probability
of default and loss given default over the expected life of
the trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue costs or effort.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
provided reversal of HK$13,000 (2022: allowance for
HK$19,000) impairment loss recognised for trade receivables
based on collective assessment. Reversal of allowance of
HK$3,935,000 (2022: allowance of HK$104,192,000) were
made on debtors with significant balance and credit-
impaired debtors.
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL
that has been recognised for trade receivables under the

simplified approach:

2 HATE HA 2 HATE Hf
FEEE FEEHE
(RHBE (BHBE
BRE) BFHE)
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
FET FET
HK$’'000 HK$’000
R-ZE-_—_F—H—H At 1 January 2022 5717 51,185 56,902
72 Transfer (4,459) 4,459 =
EERREEERE Impairment losses
FER recognised, net (19) 104,192 104,173
bE H =58 Exchange difference (1,214) (6,478) (7,692)
NR-ZE-—4F At 31 December 2022 and
+ZA=+—BkK 1 January 2023

RZZE-_=F—H—H
BRERREEIE TR

Impairment losses
recognised, net

ME 5 = 5R Exchange difference
R=-ZF-=F At 31 December 2023
+=B=+-8

153,358 153,383

(3,935)
(5,396)

(3,948)
(5,397)

144,027 144,038
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Deposits and other
receivables

40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

For the purpose of internal credit risk management of
deposits and other receivables, the Group uses past due
informations to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

KL B 455

Not past due Past due Total

FiERT FExT FiEx
HK$'000

HK$'000 HK$'000

—E-F 2022
H& Kk E A fE W GIE

Deposits and other
receivables

3,930 - 3,930

RS MEMBYGIRMS - EEE
REBETREENIREOZERE N
HoAth FEUCGR IR B FT YR B E 1T B E
B - EERERS - RFHIAN
EERR BT HERARL EEE
It MASER12(E A RREERE
FHERERE -
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For deposits and other receivables, the management makes
periodic individual assessment on the recoverability of
deposits and other receivables based on industry credit
rating and default rate. The management believes that there
are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment
based on 12m ECL.

40.
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MERERERE B ERBE 40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

(%)

TRERD MR M At B W TR IRFE

REEIE SEAL S

[continued)

The following table show the movement of ECL that has

been recognised for deposits and other receivables.

2R 2 HEH
FEFE FEFE
1218R (RHRE (BHRE
AHEERE SiRfE) SirE) L
Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
12m impaired) impaired) Total
TERT TExT TET TET
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
RZZE-__F-H—H At 1 January 2022
ERRRESETE Impairment losses
recognised, net 18 - - 18
BN ER Exchange difference (8) - - (8]
R-E-__%+-A=+—H At 31 December 2022 and
FR=ZE-_=F—F—H 1 January 2023
R EEERRRE Reversal of impairment
losses recognised, net
5 Exchange difference

RZE-_=F+-A=1+—H

At 31 December 2023
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

For pledged bank deposits and bank balances, the credit risk
is limited because the counterparties are reputable banks
with high credit ratings assigned by international credit
agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for pledged bank
deposits and bank balances by reference to information
relating to probability of default and loss given default of
the respective credit rating grades published by external
credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates,
the 12m ECL on pledged bank deposits and bank balances
is considered to be insignificant and therefore no loss
allowance was recognised.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to pledged bank deposits and fixed-rate borrowings
(see Notes 22 and 25 respectively for details).

As management considers the Group's exposure to
the above fair value interest rate risk is not significant,
no interest rate swaps or other hedging activities are
undertaken by management during the year.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate
on bank deposits and variable-rate bank borrowings. The
Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank balances and
borrowings.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)
Sensitivity Analysis

If interest rates on variable-rate borrowings as at 31
December 2023 had been 10 basis points (0.1% per annum)
(2022: 10 basis points) higher/lower than the actual effective
interest rate, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would
increase/decrease by approximately HK$36,000 (2022:
post tax loss for the year would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$35,000).

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances carried at prevailing market rate.
However, such exposure is minimal to the Group as the bank
balances are all short-term in nature.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using
a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., trade receivables) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
bank borrowings and banking facilities. The Group’s bank
borrowings would mature in less than one year as at 31
December 2023 based on the carrying value of borrowings
reflected in the financial statements.

The following tables described the maturity profile of the
Group's financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting
period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments.
Specifically, borrowing with repayment on demand clause
and amounts being demanded by the creditors for immediate
repayment are included in the earliest time band.
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4. BBEEREERFERBX 40.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

ENE AR
JIREMENTR R ER
LERAME

Trade payables
Financial liabilities included in
other payables and accruals

“RT=EYCAZt-A
31 December 2023

AERRE

TS )
¥ mE-F  ESE  FEE

ERAE -
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1year cash flows amount

THR TiEn TR TR

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

15,472 15,472 15,472

25,752 - 25,752 25,752

&3 Borrowings 114,949 298,401 ARKL 334,848
BN —2RR 27 Amount due to a shareholder 5,822 = 5,822 5,822
ARES Convertible bonds 29,504 428,886 458,390 347,170
191,499 721,287 918,786 729,064
“ECETZA=T-H
31 December 2022
T BEX AERRS
ERAIZ SR-F BE-F THEnE REE
Weighted On
average demand or Total
effective less than Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 1 year cash flows amount
T FiEn Tibn T
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EREHEN Trade payables S 17,449 . 17,449 17,449
S AR ERTEREER Financial liabilities included in
LeRAk other payables and accruals - 23,244 - 23,244 23,244
B3 Borrowings 6.70 122,070 219,281 341,551 320,104
B —2RR 7B Amount due to a shareholder - 2871 i 2871 2871
ARES Convertible bonds 8.47 27122 431,268 458,390 320,048
192,956 850,569 843,505 683,716
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40.

E e EAE )
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(E_FT - =F+=-H=+—HILFJE For the year ended 31 December 2023

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

[continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group does not have significant exposures to foreign
currency risk as most of its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in the functional
currencies of the respective subsidiaries. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy
in respect of foreign currency transactions, assets and
liabilities. The Group will monitor its significant foreign
currency exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To
maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the year ended 31 December
2023 and 31 December 2022.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
BE-_T-=F+=-A=+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2023

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

[continued)

AR QD T 2 B AR R 3R 41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY
RRRPRH|ERRZTBRAKE Information about the statement of financial position of the
BT - Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
—E_=F B
ToA=T—H e s
31 December 31 December
2023 2022
FAT FET
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FREBEE NON-CURRENT ASSET
MEBARZRE Investments in subsidiaries 886,257 990,467
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
JE WS B /BB A R 3R I8 Amounts due from subsidiaries 214,375 218,108
B EIA Prepayments = 1,524
JE UG A R AR A B) 2 5RO Amount due from an intermediate
holding company 8,961 -
B & MIRTTAE Cash and bank balances 209 257
MBEELRRR Total current assets 223,545 219,889
REBE CURRENT LIABILITIES
Bt RIBERETER Other payables and accruals 1,323 1,861
JET E IR A R 2 5 Amount due to an immediate
holding company 5,822 2,871
mENBERRE Total current liabilities 7,145 4,732
RBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 216,400 215,157
EELBERABEE TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT
LIABILITIES 1,102,657 1,205,624

FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
EEA Borrowings

Al RRRE S Convertible bonds
RERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities
EREBBERT Total non-current liabilities
BEFE Net assets

TR EQUITY

BEITARR Issued capital

EACES) Reserves (note)

B Total equity

—E—=

+=A=+—~

31 December

2023
TBT
HK$°000

223,620
347,170
4,623

575,413

527,244

5,926
521,318

527,244

—E__F
+t=A=+—-H
31 December
2022

F#ET

HK$'000

205,512
320,048
6,861

532,421

673,203

3,950
669,253

673,203
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BRERBEN_ES_mWE=H_+N
AEEESEMMRETE - I hH

TMIESEREREE

M ELE
Mr. Shum Sai Chit

EFE

Director

signed on its behalf by:

MERRE L £
Ms. Chi Sile
EF

Director

The financial statement was approved and authorised for
issue by the board of directors on 28 March 2024 and was
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

HE-_T-=F+=-H=+—HI5JE For the year ended 31 December 2023

4. ARATZYM#EARR T @

41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

[continued)

B3 Note:
KRR HERENT A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows:
=N TRRES
RAEER BB B G#E B BRERE RitEE
Share Capital Convertible Share
premium Contributed redemption bond equity option  Accumulated
account surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TERT TERT TERT TET TET TET TERT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
RZZZZF5—-A-H As at 1 January 2022 1,562,634 21,976 30,324 (1,135,269 480,084
FEEERZEFREERE Loss and total comprehensive

loss for the year
BAEf Capital reorganisation
BIRG - MRZ KA Issue of shares, net of

transaction cost

BATARARE S Issue of convertible bonds
ERTABRRES R Deferred tax related to
EERIE issuance of convertible
bonds
BRBERE Share option lapsed

RELERORRZZS Equity settled share-based

transactions

= (531,519) (531,519)
655,147 - 655,147

- 28,972
- 42,512

(6,861)

RZBZZF+Z8 As at 31 December 2022 and

=t-BR=E==% 1 January 2023

-A—-A
FEBHEARZEXHER Loss and total comprehensive

expense for the year - - - - - [160,645) [160,645)

BRMERE Share option lapsed = = = = 30,646) 30,646 =
BT Issue of rights shares 12,710 = = = = = 12,710
RZZ==F As at 31 December 2023

+-A=+-H 1,604,316 677,123 419 35,651 - [1,796,191) 521,318

ARRZBABBERE-NNL=
FARRB B EMAIFET 2 &
BEAMKE 2 HERRKRNZA
REBESRBILERMN METL
ARRABBOEE D - RE— N
N—FBRERRE  —HERAA
EETHBRT  UBABSBRERNZ
REREKEEL DK -

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess
of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation prior to the listing of
the Company’s shares in 1993, over the nominal value of
the Company’s shares issued in exchange therefor. Under
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, a company may make
distributions to its members out of the contributed surplus
in certain circumstances.
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(a)

ALUXZEeBHEBRBERRA
AI(TAWXRZ]) » BAEBRE
FERERNOMERR @ FWO
2022F R AT - 7202146
A28 ALRLTEE [T
HIRITM AL R R ERE K
AR R T R BUABTE
Sk ZBETARAALKRETR
ERR EXREEHVARE
64,000,000t REEXE -
UWEFMEMEMABEER - =
202237168 - HMMEA L™
R A RSERT (B 1WLART) 2
HEITHTEE F BHERITHA
BEHAURLZHEENEE - ©
BHFE128228 @ ABREB T 8
HIUARLZHBERENEE - k&
HILXZR2024FE2A58B A 1L
ERHBMITHEE  BASE
202438 10BZ 1M BHREA L
ALZHBEE HEBLEHA
R¥1.33ET » BIEARESR
2z A ZIREE KRR -

BAl - BUWRZWEBEHED
HEETH EERRDHESH
FRRMEFRA TR E - BHE
BEESE QN - BT
AURZNIERES - AEE
CEBBEEANETER &
LEBMBARGL - AER
HECXESEANKREME
[ o B EEMEEAZRIH
ik - BERAFEEBERUEE
RFEBFNTERAER o
AEEBREBEAURREBE
ARERBN - R QMHIERE
5 BMEREREETHRE
MEBEAXFLHNERE
B e

HzE=

E e EAE )
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

T -_=F+=-A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31 December 2023

42. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

(a)

Baishan City Tianan Magnesium Resources Company
Limited ("Baishan Tianan”), a PRC subsidiary of the
Group, received a court summons from a PRC bank on
2 June 2021, as disclosed in our 2022 annual report.
This summons was regarding a breach of loan terms
and conditions by Baishan Tianan, with the bank
demanding repayment of approximately 64 million
yuan in principal that had not been settled, along
with interest and other related costs. As of 16 March
2022, the Baishan Intermediate People’s Court of Jilin
Province issued an execution ruling, approving the
bank’s application to freeze certain assets owned by
Baishan Tianan. However, on December 22 of the same
year, the court lifted the freezing on the mining rights
of Baishan Tianan. Subsequently, Baishan Tianan was
notified by the Baishan Court through an execution
ruling on 5 February 2024, that its pledged assets
would be auctioned from 10 March to 11 March 2024,
with a starting price of approximately RMB133 million.
As of the date of this report, the auction has failed
without any bids.

Currently, the debt restructuring process for Baishan
Tianan is still ongoing, but it has become increasingly
difficult due to a shortage of liquid funds and the
impact of litigation enforcement, which also hinders
the regular operations of the company. The Group
is actively communicating with creditors, hoping to
resolve the lawsuits through settlements to provide
the related enterprises with the necessary time and
space for restructuring. If a new agreement cannot
be reached with the creditors, they may resume legal
proceedings to enforce the court’s judgment. The
Group will disclose relevant information in a timely
manner based on the progress of Baishan Tianan’'s
debt restructuring, to keep shareholders and investors
informed of any significant developments related to the
restructuring or litigation.
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42. LITIGATIONS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES (continued)

43.

bh.
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(b) Reference is made to the announcement of the
Company dated 1 August 2021, the Company received
a written ruling (the "Ruling”] from Linyi Intermediate
People’s Court ("Linyi Court”) regarding a PRC bank’s
application to enforce guarantees of loans amounting to
RMB124.96 million granted to Shandong Hongri by the
bank that have been provided by certain subsidiaries of
the Group.

On 25 November 2021, the PRC bank had submitted an
application to Linyi Court to withdraw the enforcement.
Pursuant to the written ruling from Linyi Court dated 1
December 2021, such application was approved and the
enforcement was withdrawn.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors consider that up to
report date there were no significant litigations would have
material adverse impact on the business, operation and
financial position of the Group.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is a proposed auction for the Group on subsequent
event. The detail is shown as follow:

The Company has received an execution ruling from
the Baishan Court dated 5 February 2024, and has been
informed that the Baishan Court carried out an auction in
related to the Baishan Tianan Assets from 10 March 2024 to
11 March 2024, with a total reserve price of approximately
RMB182.79 million.

As of the date of this report, the auction has been
unsuccessful.

AUTHORISATION FOR ISSUE OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March
2024.

AR E A IR E LI RER 2 EH T

MBEHE
FINANCIAL SUMMARY

This summary does not form part of the audited financial

—Z 5 o statements.
5 RESULTS
BZ BE BZ S
:i_nﬁ —1—7@ g E :g::$
tZA=t-B fZB=1t-8 +ZA=t-B 1ZR=1-f s
LEFE LFE LFE LEE LEE
For the year For the year For the year For the year For the year
ended ended ended ended ended
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
TER Thn Fan TEn Tan
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
MIEE ()
T KtzE i)
Note (i) and
Note (ii
WA Revenue 1,515,291 744,836 416,060 383,899 263,491
Raad/ (Bi8) Profit/[loss) before tax 263,128 (68,448) (326,725) 5,632 (625911)
ik Income tax (53,39¢) (5,363) (5,158) (4,228) 231
AEEER /(KB Profit/[loss) for the year 209,732 (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (623,600)
TALEERR/ (BR) Profit/Loss) attributable to:
ARAREREA Equity holders of the Company 209,732 (74,011 331,883) 1,404 (423,600)
Fizarilid I Non-controlling interests - - - - S
REEER/ (B8 Profit/[loss) for the year 209,732 (74,011) (331,883) 1,404 (623,600)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)

AEREE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
R=T-AF  RoFSEF ROBS-F 0 ROICCh e
T2AZt-A T2A=t-A T2A=t-0 T2A=1-0 e
As at As at As at As at As at
31December ~ 31December ~ 31December 31 December [RECHRIE) I
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
T TiEn TiEx TiEn THn
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HraEil
Note (i)
BERE Total assets 2,556,324 2,556,832 2,360,619 1,873,174 1,442,531
BEER Total liabilities [1,166,437) (1,104910) (1171,677) (771,222 (829,570)
1,387,887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961
ARaiER S AEGRE Fquity attributable to equity holders
of the Company 1,387,887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961
1,387 887 1451922 1,188,942 1,095,952 612,961
B 5 Notes:
(i) RERBERBBIZLBRETNIZHEEFEE I (i) The comparative figures of the results and asset and liabilities have been prepared
ZEFFRMGER - based on the previous annual report published in the corresponding years.
(ii) AEBZz 2WHNEE—_T-N\F+=-A=+—H (ii) The Group has re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the year ended 31
IFFEZ BRIEREEBN L BRNEERLE - December 2018 had been discontinued at the beginning of the comparative period.
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